Cyngor

sir ddinbych
denbighshire Q&

County Councill

Annwyl Syr / Fadam,

Atodir agenda a dogfennau eraill isod ar gyfer cyfarfod o'r PANEL HEDDLU A THROSEDD
GOGLEDD CYMRU.

Yr eiddoch yn gywir,

Gary Williams
Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a Democrataidd

Dear Sir / Madam,

An agenda and other documents for a meeting of the NORTH WALES POLICE AND
CRIME PANEL are attached below.

Yours faithfully,

Gary Williams
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

AGENDA

1 PECYN AGENDA



Pecyn Dogfennau CyhoR@RBda ltem 1

POLICE AND CRIME PANEL

PANEL HEDDLU A THROSEDD

Panel Heddlu a Throsedd Gogledd Cymru

Dydd Llun, 10 Medi 2018 at 10.30 am
Siambr y Cyngor - Bodlondeb, Conwy

RHAGLEN

Ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb

Datgan cysylitiad: Cod Ymddygiad Llywodraeth Leol

Caiff yr Aelodau eu hatgoffa bod yn rhaid iddynt ddatgan bodolaeth a
natur eu cysylltiadau personol.

Materion Brys

Rhybudd o faterion a ddylai, ym marn y Cadeirydd, gael eu hystyried yn y
cyfarfod fel rhai brys yn unol.

Cyhoeddiadau gan y Cadeirydd

Gwrandawiad Cadarnhau Prif Gwnstabl Heddlu Goledd Cymru

a) Adroddiad gan yr Awdurdod Lletyol ar y weithdrefn i'w dilyn yn ystod
y Gwrandawiad Cadarnhau (Tudalennau 1 - 61)

b) Adroddiad gan Gomisiynydd Heddlu a Throsedd Gogledd Cymru
(Tudalennau 62 - 104)

Dyddiad y cyfarfod nesaf:
Dydd Llun, 24 Medi 2018 @ 2.00 pm

CYNGOR BWRDEISTREF SIROL
COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL



Aelodau’r Panel

Cyng Chris Bithell
Cyng Dana Davies
Cyng Julie Fallon
Cyng Alan Hunter
Cyng Hugh Irving
Cyng Eric Jones

Cyng Neville Phillips OBE Y.H.

Cyng Peter Read
Cyng Dylan Rees
Cyng Nigel Williams

Pat Astbury (Is-Gadeirydd)
Matthew Forbes
William John Williams

Cyngor Sir y Fflint

Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Wrecsam
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Conwy
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Conwy
Cyngor Sir Ddinbych

Cyngor Gwynedd

Cyngor Sir y Fflint

Cyngor Gwynedd

Cyngor Sir Ynys Mon

Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Wrecsam

Aelod Annibynnol Cyfetholedig
Aelod Annibynnol Cyfetholedig
Aelod Annibynnol Cyfetholedig

Sylwer: mae’n bosibl y bydd y cyfarfod hwn yn cael ei ffilmio i'w ddarlledu’n fyw neu’n ddiweddarach ar wefan
Panel yr Heddlu a Throsedd - ar ddechrau'r cyfarfod, bydd y Cadeirydd yn cadarnhau a fydd y cyfarfod cyfan
neu ran ohono’n cael ei ffilmio. Gallai’r lluniau a’r recordiad sain gael eu defnyddio at ddibenion hyfforddi.

Yn gyffredinol, nid yw’r mannau eistedd cyhoeddus yn cael eu ffilmio. Fodd bynnag, drwy fynd i'r ystafell
gyfarfod a defnyddio'r mannau eistedd cyhoeddus, rydych yn cydsynio i gael eich ffilmio a’r posibilrwydd y bydd
y lluniau a’r recordiadau sain hynny’n cael eu defnyddio at ddibenion gweddarlledu a / neu hyfforddiant.

=
CoNwy

CYNGOR BWRDEISTREF SIROL
COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL




EITEM RHAGLEN 5a

| ~—7
CoNwy

ADRODDIAD I: Banel Heddlu a Throsedd Gogledd Cymru (y Panel)

DYDDIAD Y CYFARFOD: 10 Medi 2018

SWYDDOG ARWEINIOL:

Panel
SWYDDOG CYSWLLT: Dawn Hughes, Uwch-Swyddog Cymorth
TESTUN: Gwrandawiad Cadarnhau ar gyfer Penodi Prif Gwnstabl Heddlu
Gogledd Cymru
1. CRYNODEB A PHWYNTIAU ALLWEDDOL
1.1 Mae’r adroddiad er mwyn cynghori Panel Heddlu a Throsedd Gogledd
Cymru o’r weithdrefn i'w dilyn ar gyfer gwrandawiad cadarnhau mewn
perthynas & phenodiad arfaethedig Prif Gwnstabl Heddlu Gogledd Cymru
gan Gomisiynydd yr Heddlu a Throsedd.
1.2 Mae Atodiad 1 yn darparu manylion ynghylch sut y dylid ymgymryd &
chadarnhau.
1.3  Mae Atodiad 2 yn darparu canllaw oddi wrth Gymdeithas Llywodraeth Leol
a’r Ganolfan ar gyfer Craffu Cyhoeddus ar Wrandawiadau Cadarnhau.
2. ARGYMHELLIAD
21 Bod Panel yr Heddlu a Throsedd yn nodi ei gyfrifoldebau yn y broses
gwrandawiad cadarnhau ac yn ystyried penodiad arfaethedig Mr Carl
Foulkes fel Prif Gwnstabl Heddlu Gogledd Cymru.
3. MANYLION YR ADRODDIAD
3.1 Mae Deddf Diwygio’r Heddlu a Chyfrifoldeb Cymdeithasol 2011 yn nodi

Tud 1

dylai Comisiynydd Heddlu a Throsedd ar gyfer ardal heddlu benodi Prif
Gwnstabl yr heddlu ar gyfer yr ardal honno yn unol & Chanllaw'r Coleg
Plismona ar gyfer Penodi Prif Swyddogion (Atodiad 3).

Richard Jarvis, Swyddog Arweiniol ac Ymgynghorydd Cyfreithiol i'r



Tud 2

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

4.1

Mae Atodlen 8 Deddf 2011 yn dweud fod yn rhaid i Gomisiynydd Heddlu a
Throsedd hysbysu’r Panel Heddlu a Throsedd perthnasol am benodiad
arfaethedig Prif Gwnstabl a hefyd hysbysu’r Panel o'r wybodaeth ganlynol:

-  Enw’r person mae’r Comisiynydd Heddlu a Throsedd yn cynnig ei
benodi;

- Y meini prawf a ddefnyddiwyd i asesu addasrwydd yr ymgeisydd ar
gyfer y penodiad;

- Pam fod yr ymgeisydd yn bodloni’r meini prawf hynny; a'r

- Telerau ac amodau y dylid penodi’r ymgeisydd arnynt.

Mae’n ddyletswydd ar y Panel Heddlu a Throsedd i gynnal Gwrandawiad
Cadarnhau ac i adolygu, gwneud adroddiadau ac argymhellion mewn
perthynas a phenodiad arfaethedig Prif Gwnstabl ac i gyhoeddi eu
hadroddiadau neu argymhellion. Rhaid cwblhau’r broses o adolygu ac
adrodd ar benodiad arfaethedig o fewn tair wythnos i Banel yn cael ei
hysbysu yn ei gylch gan Gomisiynydd yr Heddlu a Throsedd.

Mae Gwrandawiad Cadarnhau wedi’i ddiffinio fel ‘cyfarfod cyhoeddus o'r
Panel, lle gofynnir i'r ymgeisydd ymddangos i'r diben o ateb cwestiynau
mewn perthynas &’r penodiad'.

Dylid cynnal y Gwrandawiad Cadarnhau fel yr amlinellir yn Atodiad 1. Mae
canllawiau’r Gymdeithas Llywodraeth Leol/ Canolfan ar gyfer Craffu
Cyhoeddus yn argymell dylai gwrandawiad cadarnhau ganolbwyntio ar y
meysydd canlynol:

Cymhwysedd proffesiynol: h.y. gallu’r ymgeisydd i wneud y swydd, er
enghraifft, eu dyfarniad a'u mewnwelediad proffesiynol; ac

Annibyniaeth bersonol; h.y. yr angen i'r ymgeisydd ymddwyn mewn modd
sy’n weithredol annibynnol o Gomisiynydd yr Heddlu a Throsedd.

OPSIYNAU

Wrth ystyried y penodiad, mae gan Banel yr Heddlu a Throsedd dri phrif
opsiwn, fel a ganlyn:

Os yw'r Panel yn fodlon bod yr ymgeisydd yn diwallu’r safonau gofynnol,
gall argymell i'r Comisiynydd wneud y penodiad. Gallai'r Comisiynydd
dderbyn neu wrthod argymhelliad o’r fath ac mae’n rhaid iddo hysbysu’r
Panel o’'i ymateb.

Os yw’r Panel yn ystyried bod yr ymgeisydd yn diwallu’r safonau gofynnol,
ond bod ganddynt gwestiwn neu bryder ynghylch ei addasrwydd, gall
wneud argymhelliad i'r perwyl hwn i'r Comisiynydd. Yn y pen draw, mae



Tud 3

5.1

6.1

7.1

gan y Panel yr opsiwn o argymell i'r Comisiynydd i beidio & gwneud vy
penodiad. Gallai'r Comisiynydd dderbyn neu wrthod argymhelliad o’r fath
ac mae’n rhaid iddo hysbysu’r Panel 0’i ymateb.

Os yw'r Panel yn ystyried nad yw'r ymgeisydd yn amlwg yn diwallu’r safonau
isafswm gofynnol ar gyfer y swydd, gall y Panel roi feto ar y penodiad
arfaethedig. Rhai i o leiaf ddwy ran o dair o aelodau’r Panel gefnogi
penderfyniad i roi feto ar benodiad arfaethedig. Pe bai’r Panel yn rhoi feto
ar benodiad arfaethedig, ni ddylai’r Comisiynydd benodir ymgeisydd
hwnnw. Yna, mae’n rhaid i'r Comisiynydd cynnig ymgeisydd arall — wrth
gefn — ar gyfer y penodiad. Bydd y penodiad arfaethedig hwn yn destun
adolygiad gan y Panel mewn ail wrandawiad cadarnhau, gan arwain at
gyflwyno adroddiad i'r Comisiynydd yn gwneud argymhelliad ynghylch
penodi’r ymgeisydd wrth gefn. Gallai'r Comisiynydd dderbyn neu wrthod
argymhelliad o’r fath ac mae’n rhaid iddo hysbysu’r Panel 0’i ymateb.

Mae canllawiau'r Gymdeithas Llywodraeth Leol/ Canolfan ar gyfer Craffu
Cyhoeddus yn rhagweld mai anaml iawn y dylai Panel yr Heddlu a Throsedd
ddefnyddio argymhelliad i beidio & phenodi, yn seiliedig ar yr egwyddorion
fod ymgeiswyr eisoes wedi bod trwy broses recriwtio. (y cyfeirir ato yn
Atodiad 2).

Mae canllawiau’r Gymdeithas Llywodraeth Leol/ Canolfan ar gyfer Craffu
Cyhoeddus yn pwysleisio mai dim ond mewn amgylchiadau eithriadol y
dylid defnyddio feto. Dylai pwer Comisiynydd yr Heddlu a Throsedd i benodi
Prif Gwnstabl gael ei gefnogi gan swyddogaethau adnoddau dynol priodol
a gweithdrefnau penodi priodol a ddyluniwyd i ddarparu gwiriad
‘diwydrwydd dyladwy’ ar addasrwydd yr ymgeisydd mae Comisiynydd yr
Heddlu a Throsedd yn cynnig ei benodi. Dim ond os yw Panel Heddlu a
Throsedd yn credu y bu ffaeleddau sylweddol ar y gwiriad ‘diwydrwydd
dyladwy’ hwn, i'r graddau nad yw'r ymgeisydd yn addas i'w benodi, y dylid
rhoi feto ar benodiad arfaethedig. (y cyfeirir ato yn Atodiad 2).

YMGYSYLLTU/ YMGYNGHORI

Mae Comisiynydd yr Heddlu a Throsedd wedi ymgysylltu gyda Phanel yr
Heddlu a Throsedd drwy gydol y broses recriwtio.

GOBLYGIADAU O RAN ADNODDAU -
Dim.
DEDDF LLESIANT CENEDLAETHAU’R DYFODOL

Amherthnasol



Tud 4

8. GOBLYGIADAU O RAN RISG

8.1  Mae angen i Banel yr Heddlu a Throsedd fod yn fodlon bod yr ymgeisydd
yn diwallu’r safon gofynnol er mwyn gwasanaethu bobl Gogledd Cymru.

Papurau Cefndir:
Atodiadau:

Atodiad 1 — Gweithdrefn Gwrandawiad Cadarnhau

Atodiad 2 - Canllaw Panel yr Heddlu a Throsedd ar Wrandawiadau Cadarnhau -
Cymdeithas Llywodraeth Leol a’'r Ganolfan ar gyfer Craffu Cyhoeddus.

Atodiad 3 — Canllaw’r Coleg Plismona ar gyfer Penodi Prif Swyddogion.



Atodiad 1

Gweithdrefnau Gwrandawiad Cadarnhau
e Bydd y Cadeirydd yn croesawu’r ymgeisydd i'r gwrandawiad ac yn gwahodd
Aelodau’r Panel a Swyddogion yr Awdurdod Cynnal i gyflwyno’u hunain.

e Bydd y Cadeirydd yn gofyn i Swyddog Arweiniol/ Cynghorydd Cyfreithiol y
Panel i amlinellu fformat y gwrandawiad yn gryno.

e Byddy Cadeirydd yn gwahodd y Comisiynydd i amlinellu'r penodiad
arfaethedig a chyflwyni'r ymgeisydd.

e Bydd y Cadeirydd yn gwahodd yr Aelod Annibynnol i gyflwyno’i adroddiad.

e Bydd y Cadeirydd yn gwahodd aelodau’r Panel i ofyn cwestiynau i'r
ymgeisydd.

e Pan fydd holl gwestiynau’r Panel wedi cael eu gofyn a’u hateb, bydd y
Cadeirydd yn gwahodd yr ymgeisydd i egluro unrhyw atebion maent wedi eu
rhoi yn ystod y gwrandawiad ac i ofyn unrhyw gwestiynau sydd ganddynt i'r
Panel.

e Yna, bydd yr ymgeisydd, y Comisiynydd a’i staff yn ymadael o'r cyfarfod.

e Yna, gofynnir i'r Panel gytuno ar gynnig i wahardd y wasg a’r cyhoedd o'r
cyfarfod cyn iddo ystyried ei adroddiad i'r Comisiynydd.

e Bydd y Panel yn ystyried ei adroddiad a’i gasgliadau.

e Bydd y Panel yn anfon ei adroddiad i'r Comisiynydd erbyn diwedd y diwrnod
gwaith ar 6l dyddiad y gwrandawiad cadarnhau.

e Byddy Panel yn cyhoeddi ei adroddiad ar amser priodol ar 6l y gwrandawiad
cadarnhau, fel arfer mewn ymgynghoriad &'r Comisiynydd er mwyn
adlewyrchu bydd y Comisiynydd hefyd yn cyhoeddi ei benderfyniad terfynol ei
hun ar y penodiad arfaethedig yn dilyn y gwrandawiad.

Tud 5



Local ‘. e
C ps Scl:utti’llw

Government ~ ,
accountability, transparency, involvement

Association

Guidance on confirmation hearings




This guidance has been prepared by the Centre for Public Scrutiny and the
Local Government Association. Every attempt has been made to provide a fair
picture of the current state of the law, to present an accurate and comprehensive
assessment of our recommended interpretation of the provisions of the Police
Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 as it applies to police and crime
panels, and to suggest ways of working to ensure that panels can be effective,
and their work proportionate, relevant and timely. However:

» This guidance should not be relied upon as giving legal advice, and it will be
for monitoring officers in individual authorities to come to their own decisions,
working with councillors, to decide on the right approach.

» This guidance should not be interpreted as setting out the view of the Home
Office, and the recommendations, suggestions and advice given should not
be interpreted as being endorsed or approved by the Home Office. The views
expressed in the guidance are those solely of the Centre for Public Scrutiny and
the Local Government Association.

Tud 7



Contents

Introduction 4
Background 4
Key issues 4

Drawing comparisons 6
Experience of hearings elsewhere 6
Lessons learned 7

The legislation — initial considerations 8
Scope 8
Schedule 1 8
Schedule 8 9
Existing staff 9

Professional competence and personal independence 10

Planning and preparation 11
Receiving notification from the PCC 11
Notifying the candidate 11
Briefing and pre-meeting 12

The hearing itself 14

The decision-making process 16
Meeting the role profile requirements 16
Minimum standards 17

Making recommendations (on Schedule 1 and Schedule 8 appointments) 18
Recommending approval 18
Recommending refusal 19

The veto (for Schedule 8 appointments only) 20
Use of the power of veto 20
Process for the veto 20

Tud 8



Introduction

Background

From November 2012, structural reforms
in policing in England and Wales will

result in the abolition of police authorities
and the creation of new arrangements

for accountability. The Police Reform and
Social Responsibility Act' creates the post
of elected police and crime commissioner
(PCC) for each force area, who will be
responsible for holding the chief constable
to account. The PCC themselves will be
scrutinised by a police and crime panel
(referred to in this guidance as the panel)
made up of local councillors from the force
area, and some co-optees. More details on
the general role of the panel can be found in
the companion guidance to this publication
produced by LGA/CfPS in October 20112

Under the Act?, a principal role for the new
panels will be to conduct hearings for certain
senior staff including the chief constable,
before they are confirmed in their posts.
There is little precedent for this activity in the
context of local government, with the most
prominent UK examples of such hearings
being in the House of Commons, and the
London Assembly. Even there, they are a
relatively recent phenomenon.

1 Referred to in this guidance as 'the Act’
2 www.cfps.org.uk/publications?item=7002&offset=0%20
3 Schedules 1 and 8

Tud-9

Under the Act, a Part 2 panel operates

as a local government joint committee,

led by a host authority. Under Part 3, the
Secretary of State reserves the right to run
a panel directly where local agreement on
its operation cannot be reached. All Welsh
panels will be Part 3 panels. Support for the
operation of Part 3 panels will be provided
by the Home Office. However, it is not
anticipated that there will be any material
difference between Part 2 and Part 3 panels
in their operation of confirmation hearings.

Key issues

Confirmation hearings will need to be
handled in a different way to other evidence-
gathering sessions. They will however

need to operate within the requirement, in
employment law, for a particular degree of
fairness. They will be an important element
of an appointment process that will need to
focus closely on an individual’s capabilities
and expertise, but will need to be carried out
so as to ensure that justified scrutiny of these
attributes does not descend into unwarranted
intrusion or lines of questioning that might be
unfair or unreasonable.

4 Police and crime panels



Confirmation hearings will need to
complement, rather than duplicate, the other
internal systems for appointing staff. There
is no point in a panel confirmation hearing
being simply a restaging of a previous
interview panel.

Lines of questioning will therefore need to

be carefully designed, and used to get the
maximum value out of the process — for the
panel, candidate and for the local community.

This guidance will examine in detail the
steps that local authorities, and the panels
they support, should take in preparing for
confirmation hearings and in carrying them
out. There are clear pitfalls that careful
planning can avoid, but inevitably there will
be occasions where quick thinking, tact and
diplomacy will be required from all involved
in these hearings, to ensure that they are
genuinely useful.

We suggest that PCCs and panels in
individual force areas review this guidance
and seek to incorporate it as part of

any wider protocol that will govern their
relationship. This would include, for example:

+ timescales (supplementing and
complementing existing provisions on
timescales in Schedules 1 and 8)

» mutual expectations about the detail of
information which will be provided on
candidates and their background

* mutual expectations about the conduct of
the hearings themselves.

Tud-10

Reaching agreement on these issues as
soon as possible following the election of
the PCC will minimise the risk of delay or
misunderstandings when the first Schedule
1 or Schedule 8 appointment is scrutinised.
The panel should have the systems in place
ready to carry out its duties from November
2012.

Police and crime panels

5



Drawing comparisons

Experience of hearings
elsewhere

UK examples of confirmation hearings can
be drawn from the House of Commons,
where they have operated since 2008, and
from processes established in relation to
the London Assembly, which has a role in
confirming certain mayoral appointments.

In the USA, a number of local areas run
confirmation hearings for police officials,
especially where they are appointed by an
elected commissioner or chief of police.

Research elsewhere has explored these
confirmation hearings and a discussion of
their strengths and weaknesses goes beyond
the scope of this guidance; however, we
have sought to recognise the experience

in the US and other jurisdictions in this
document.

In the UK, confirmation hearings (or ‘pre-
appointment hearings’*) were initially
proposed by government as part of the 2007
Governance of Britain Green Paper.

4 Schedules 1 and 8 of the Act make clear that the confirmation
hearing process is a pre-appointment, rather than a post-
appointment, process.

Tud

11

A process of negotiation between the
government and the Commons Liaison
Committee® led to the adoption of a process
in 2008 that focused on the professional
competence and personal independence
of candidates, covering a range of public
appointments. The Liaison Committee
produced a process for hearings which has
been adopted and followed by all select
committees and, since 2008, significant
numbers have been carried out.

In 2010, the Constitution Unit carried out
a review of confirmation hearings that
had been held to date®. It highlighted
some concerns about the operation of
such procedures but overall concluded
that the aim of increasing transparency in
appointments had been achieved.

On the point of the exercise of a veto (not
an option open to Select Committees) it
has been suggested that this might deter
candidates from applying. This is a risk we
will consider and suggest a way to mitigate,
through panels carefully restricting their use
of the veto, which we discuss in more detail
below.

5 Maer L, ‘Parliamentary involvement in public appointments’
(House of Commons Library Paper SN/PC/4387), http://www.
parliament.uk/documents/commons/lib/research/briefings/snpc-
04387 .pdf

6 Waller, P and Chalmers M, “An evaluation of pre-appointment
scrutiny hearings” (UCL Constitution Unit, 2010), http://www.
ucl.ac.uk/constitution-unit/research/consultancy/consultancy-
projects/PASreport

u
6 Police and crime panels



Lessons learned

There are several lessons that can be
learned from the experiences in the UK
Parliament, in the USA and at the London
Assembly:

Confirmation hearings need to be
rigorously and carefully planned by the
panels carrying them out — but this does
not mean hearings are a bureaucratic, ‘tick
box’ exercise.

Candidates need to know what to expect
and panels should keep to a relatively
narrow set of questions which relate
directly to professional competence and
personal independence — but this does not
mean hearings are not challenging.

Both the veto (where legal), and the
recommendation not to appoint, should be
used very rarely, based on the principle
that candidates will have already been
subject to an internal recruitment process
— but this does not mean that hearings are
simply a rubber stamp.

Hearings should take place quickly, with
minimal time taken between notification of
the appointment, the hearing and reports
and recommendations being made to the
PCC - but this does not mean the process
should be rushed.

Candidates should be treated with
courtesy and respect, not just at hearings
themselves, but also in correspondence
or public statements relating to
recommendations made by the panel
(this is particularly important if there is a
decision taken to veto) — but this does
not mean that panels should not be
transparent about their findings.

Tud-12

Police and crime panels

2



The legislation — initial

considerations

Scope

Scrutiny of senior appointments by the police
and crime panel is determined in Schedules
1 and 8 of the Act. These Schedules provide
information on what the panel must do, in
holding a confirmation hearing.

The rest of this guidance provides details on
how these obligations could be interpreted,
and how confirmation hearings could

be used to add value to local policing.
Throughout the guidance we have used the
word ‘should’ to put forward how we would
suggest that panels should plan their work.
There is however no legal obligation on any
panel to follow our recommendations.

Schedule 1

Schedule 1 covers the appointment of

the PCC'’s chief executive, chief finance
officer and any deputy police and crime
commissioners’. It states that the PCC must
notify the panel of such a ‘proposed senior
appointment’®, providing the name of the
candidate, the criteria used to assess his or
her suitability, why the candidate satisfies
those criteria, and the terms and conditions
on which the candidate is to be appointed®.

7 Paragraph 9(1) of Schedule 1
8 Paragraph 9(2) of Schedule 1
9 This will include the candidate’s salary

d13

Once this notification has occurred, the panel
must review the senior appointment'®, and
make a report on it to the PCC", which must
include a recommendation as to whether or
not the candidate should be appointed.

This must all happen within a period of three
weeks, beginning on the day that the panel
receives the notification from the PCC"3,
Under Schedule 6 to the Act, confirmation
hearings carried out under Schedule 1 are
‘special functions’ of the panel, and so may
not be discharged by a sub-committee.

A confirmation hearing must be held before
the report is submitted to the PCC. This is
defined as ‘a meeting of the panel, held in
public, at which the candidate is requested
to appear for the purpose of answering
questions relating to the appointment’*4.

In response to the panel’s report, the PCC
must then notify the panel whether they will
accept or reject the recommendation. There
is no duty for the PCC to give reasons for
their decision.

10 Paragraph 10(2) of Schedule 1
11 Paragraph 10(3) of Schedule 1
12 Paragraph 10(4) of Schedule 1
13 Paragraph 10(5) of Schedule 1
14 Paragraph 11(2) of Schedule 1
15 Paragraph 12(1) and (2) of Schedule 1

u
8 Police and crime panels



Schedule 8

Schedule 8 covers the appointment of the
chief constable. Most of the provisions are
identical to those in Schedule 1. There are
two crucial differences:

» The panel has a veto'® over the appointment
of the chief constable. The panel may
recommend that the PCC does not make the
appointment'’, but in the event of a veto then
the candidate must not be appointed'®. What
happens once the veto has been exercised
will be subject to regulations'®, which are
likely to go into this matter in more detail.
The procedure suggested at the end of this
document for the exercise of the veto has
been designed so that it should fit with the
regulations once they are published.

+ Although the panel is obliged to conduct a
confirmation hearing for the chief constable
and then report its recommendations to
the PCC, if a report is not made following
a period of three weeks, then the PCC can
go ahead and appoint®°,

It should also be noted that the panel cannot
delegate its scrutiny of the appointment of
the chief constable to a sub-committee, as

it is a ‘special function’ of the panel under
Paragraph 27 of Schedule 6.

In this guidance, we will refer to
appointments of the chief constable as
Schedule 8 appointments. All other
appointments subject to a confirmation
hearing under the Act will be referred to as
Schedule 1 appointments.

16 Under the Act, the panel may veto such an appointment with
a two-thirds majority

17 Regulation 4(4) of Schedule 8

18 Paragraph 8 of Schedule 8

19 Paragraph 9 and 10 of Schedule 8 (Regulations to be issued)
20 Paragraphs 2(3) and 6(1) of Schedule 8

Tud-14

Existing staff

Some staff may be transferred, via

TUPE, from police authorities to the

PCC’s secretariat. Even if under normal
circumstances such transfers would be
subject to a hearing, this would not be
necessary during the November 2012
transition phase when the PCC’s secretariat
is first being established. However, the
appointment by the PCC of a deputy will
require a confirmation hearing to be held.

Police and crime panels

9



Professional competence and
personal independence

We recommend that confirmation

hearings focus on issues of professional
competence and personal independence.
These are the standards that have been
adopted in the House of Commons and
have been identified by MPs as providing
them with the focus necessary to carry out
effective confirmation hearings.

Minimum standards should be seen as
applying to particular attributes; ie there
should be minimum standards below which

it would not be appropriate to appoint under
any circumstances. Above this bar, the panel
might have concerns but the candidate will
be ‘appointable’ subject to the discretion

of the PCC. We comment on minimum
standards in more detail in the section on the
exercise of the veto.

Professional competence relates to a
candidate’s ability to carry out the role. This
should be apparent from a comparison of
the candidate’s CV and the role profile, and
from the answers to questions which relate
to (for example) issues around professional
judgment and insight which might be asked
as part of the confirmation hearing process.

Tud-15

Personal independence relates to the need
for a candidate to act in a manner that

is operationally independent of the PCC
(although see below on how this will apply to
deputy commissioners).

This will be particularly important for
Schedule 8 candidates, but for Schedule 1
candidates the panel will still need to assure
themselves that the candidate will have

the ability to advise the PCC effectively,

and to understand the need to respond
constructively in situations when they might
be held to account by the panel.

10 Police and crime panels



Planning and preparation

Receiving notification from the
PCC

When the PCC notifies the panel of a
proposed senior appointment, the panel will
need information relating to the candidate in
order to carry out the hearing properly.

Notification from the PCC should therefore
be accompanied by some form of
background information (to minimise the

risk that time will be wasted chasing this
information up through other means). This
should usually be the same information that
the PCC has had access to during the rest of
the appointment process. Under the Act the
panel must be provided with the following
information:

» the names of the person whom the PCC is
proposing to appoint

+ the criteria used to assess the suitability of
the candidate for the appointment

» why the candidate satisfies those criteria

» the terms and conditions on which the
candidate is to be appointed.

The PCC might provide other information
about the candidate, for example background
information (such as a CV) or a personal
statement.

This information would be used to allow the
panel to draw together questions around
whether the candidate could evidence both
professional competence and personal

Tud-16

independence. It is unlikely that the panel
would be able to, or would wish to, carry out
its own research on the candidate within the
three week timescale because:

* resource constraints would make this level
of research unfeasible

+ this raises the prospect of questions being
asked on issues which do not relate to
professional competence and personal
independence.

The issue of additional information is covered
in the section on pre-meetings below.

Given that notification triggers a hearing
within three weeks, the first task for the panel
on receiving the notification will be to set a
date for a meeting. This meeting should not
be used for any other business (ie if there is
already a panel business meeting scheduled
for that period, the appointment meeting
should be held separately).

Notifying the candidate

Following the PCC'’s notification to the
panel, and the scheduling of the hearing,
the chair of the panel should write to the
candidate, advising them of the date of the
meeting and notifying them of the principles
of professional competence and personal
independence on which they propose to
evaluate the candidate.

Police and crime panels 11



This should refer to the relevant provisions in
legislation.

This letter should advise that the information
provided by the candidate (see above) would
need to be put on public deposit in the same
manner as a standard report going to the
panel.

If it has been agreed that the candidate’s
references will be provided to the panel, the
PCC will need to advise the relevant referees
that the references they submit will be put

on public deposit to assist the panel in the
performance of its duties.

Briefing and pre-meeting

Steps should be taken to arrange a pre-
meeting for the panel to go through some of
the key issues and possible questions. The
pre-meeting should not be held immediately
before the confirmation hearing itself, to
allow sufficient time for any unexpected
issues, or gaps in information provided, to be
addressed.

The information provided alongside the
notification by the PCC should be used by
the chair of the panel and the lead officer
supporting the panel to draw together a list
of potential issues for the panel to discuss at
a pre-meeting. This could highlight possible
question topics and themes, highlight
background information on which members
might wish to focus and remind members of
the process taken at the meeting itself.

The pre-meeting is the most important
element of the preparations for the
confirmation process, because it is here that
members of the panel will decide on the
scope and thrust of their questioning.

Tud-17

This meeting should be held in private, and
members of the panel should be assisted

by the monitoring officer and a senior HR
representative from the host authority to
provide specialist and technical advice, along
with whichever officer is responsible for
providing support to the panel (ie a scrutiny
officer).

People serving on panels may already

have some experience of councillor-level
appointment panels, for example to fill senior
management posts. However, confirmation
hearings are different in several crucial ways,
which require them to be managed even
more carefully. The panel will need to bear
these factors in mind at the pre-meeting:

« confirmation hearings will be held in public,
and Schedule 8 appointments (those of the
chief constable) in particular are likely to
be high profile

 the appointment is being made to an
external body, not the councils represented
on the panel

* hearings are an integral, but independent,
part of the appointments process.

The focus of questioning will, therefore, need
to rest on the professional competence of the
candidate and their personal independence.
Questioning will need to rely on the
documents provided to support the panel’s
deliberations.

Where members of the panel propose to
consider additional information relating to
the candidate, not provided by the PCC

but available elsewhere, this should be
considered by the monitoring officer and the
HR representative to ensure that the process
will be fair, and that it will help the panel
assess competence and independence.

12 Police and crime panels



This will be of particular importance for
Schedule 8 appointments, where there may
be a fair amount of information in the public
domain relating to the candidate on which
the panel might like to draw, but care will be
needed in researching and analysing this
information.

Within the two broad themes of competence
and independence the panel might wish to
focus on particular areas. These should be
discerned with reference to the role profile,
and the police and crime plan, which will
allow the panel to understand the regular
duties that the postholder will be expected to
undertake, and the key policies that they will
have to implement.

Broad questioning themes should be
developed, such as evidence that the
candidate has:

+ an understanding of the various
stakeholders that would need to be
involved and engaged with (and in
what way, with what outcome) in the
development and delivery of a major
strategy (professional competence)

« a pragmatic understanding of the
separation of the PCC from operational
responsibility (personal independence).

Personal independence is likely to be a
nuanced issue in relation to the PCC’s
deputy. These are likely to be political
appointments, and as such a lower standard
of independence might be expected,
reflecting the fact that these deputies have
been appointed to provide political support,
and to directly assist the PCC in driving his
or her particular vision and priorities.

Tud-18

However, the panel in these cases, will
still need to be assured that the deputy
recognises the separation of political and
operational responsibilities.

Members of the panel should consider, at the
pre-meeting, the kind of evidence they would
want to adduce to demonstrate under each
theme that the minimum standards for the
post had been met.

Under each of these themes individual
questions should be drawn out, and
assigned to relevant members of the panel.
It may be necessary for the panel member
asking questions at the meeting to ask
supplementary questions, to ‘tease out’

the response to an answer. The chair of
the panel will, under these circumstances,
need to monitor closely such supplementary
questions, and their responses, to be
assured that they are relevant. The chair
should receive senior officer support at the
meeting.

Inappropriate questions are considered
below.

Police and crime panels 13



The hearing itself

The hearing will be a relatively focused
opportunity to explore key issues relating
to professional competence and personal
independence.

As we have made clear it should not be
treated as a chance for the panel to explore
the candidate’s views on various areas of
the PCC'’s policies, national policy issues,
or their plans once they assume the post,
except insofar as those questions might
relate directly to professional competence
and personal independence.

Confirmation hearings should therefore be
relatively short and focused. Members will
have agreed questions, and questioning
themes, at the pre-meeting and these should
be kept to (other than to ask necessary
supplementary questions — see above).

In broad terms, the meeting should be
framed so as to allow the panel to make an
informed decision about the candidate. In the
next section the decision-making process is
looked at in more detail but, fundamentally, it
comprises two linked steps:

» Does the person meet the criteria set out in
the role profile for the post?

> Do they have the professional
competence to carry out the role?

> Do they have the personal
independence to carry out the role?
(although see comments elsewhere in
this guidance on political appointments)

Tud 19

« Should, consequently, the panel
recommend that the candidate should not
be appointed or use its power of veto?

The chair should open the meeting by
welcoming the candidate, and others
present, and outlining for the benefit of the
candidate the key themes that the panel
hopes to explore. The chair should explain
the process for approval, refusal or veto of
appointments and allow the candidate to

ask any procedural questions that he or she
might have before the questioning gets under
way.

The chair should be aware — notwithstanding
the pre-meeting — of the risk that
inappropriate questions might be asked.

An inappropriate question is one that does
not relate to the professional competence

or personal independence of the candidate.
Some questions that may appear to the
questioner to relate to one or both of these
issues might still be inappropriate. Some
examples might be questions:

* relating to the personal political (or other)
views of the candidate — eg whether the
candidate agrees or disagrees with the
police and crime plan, and so on

+ seeking to substantively hold to account
the candidate for decisions made in a
previous role, unless they are phrased
in such a way that directly relates to (for
example) learning lessons from past
experience

14 Police and crime panels



* on what the candidate will do,
substantively, once in the post (ie
questions relating to operational strategy)

* which are hypothetical and designed to
obtain the candidate’s views on a position
of local controversy.

This is not an exhaustive list. The panel’s
senior HR adviser will be able to further
advise the panel and the chair as to
appropriate, and inappropriate, questions in
this context.

The panel should also be able to use its own
considered judgment on this matter, and
does not have to take the officer advice it is
given.

At all times the candidate should be treated
fairly and politely. The panel should avoid
getting into debate and discussion with the
candidate on any issue, remembering that it
has a task to perform and a limited amount of
time to do it.

Members of the panel should refrain from
making general statements about any issue,
other than the short opening and closing
statements referred to above.

At the end of the session the candidate
should be given the opportunity to clarify

any answers that he or she has given in the
course of the hearing, and ask any questions
of the panel, for example about the next
steps or the decision-making process.

Tud-20

Police and crime panels 15



The decision-making process

Immediately following the confirmation
hearing, the panel should go into closed
session to decide on its recommendations.
Whilst the Local Government Act 1972
Schedule 12A would normally apply to

the panel’s operation at this point, the

Home Office suggests that panels are joint
committees under the Police Reform and
Social Responsibility Act rather than the
Local Government Act 1972. The Home
Office will shortly issue Regulations to
clarify how parts of the 1972 Act will apply to
panels. The monitoring officer and a senior
HR professional should be present to provide
advice to the panel on its deliberations.

Meeting the role profile
requirements

The following questions follow on from the
issues mentioned in the section above. They
are indicative only, suggesting the kind of
issues that the panel would most need to

be able to evaluate in order to come to a
judgment on the suitability of the candidate.

Tud 21

Depending on the role, and the role profile,
different questions could be asked specific to
the candidate’s forthcoming responsibilities,
for example:

+ Whether the panel feels that the candidate
has the professional competence to
exercise the role, as set out in the role
profile

> Do they have the ability and insight to
work across multiple different agencies
to achieve the PCC'’s priorities, and
wider priorities for the area?

> Do they have the ability to respond,
credibly and proportionately, to
pressures such as the need to make
short-term responses to unexpected
requirements?

> Do they have the ability to translate
strategic objectives into operational
change on the ground?

* Whether the panel feels that the candidate
has the personal independence to exercise
the role, as set out in the role profile

> Do they have the ability to advise
the PCC, but to resist any attempt at
improper influence?

> Do they have the ability and confidence
to take personal responsibility for
relevant successes and failures?

16 Police and crime panels



Minimum standards

In an earlier section we made reference

to ‘minimum standards’ of professional
competence and personal independence.
Members should be familiar with the required
minimum standards in the role profile and
should use these to make an assessment

as to whether the candidate fulfils those
standards.

Where a candidate does not meet these
standards it should be self-evident, and this
will be suggestive of a significant failure in
the appointments process undertaken by the
PCC.

Under these circumstances (and only these
circumstances) it may be appropriate to use
the veto, if the candidate is a Schedule 8
appointment.

Where a candidate meets these standards,
but there is still a cause for concern about
his or her suitability, it may be appropriate
to outline these concerns in the panel’s
response to the PCC.

Where a Schedule 1 candidate does not,

in the panel’s view, meet the minimum
requirements for the post, providing advice
to the PCC in the form of a letter is the

only option open to the panel. For these
situations for Schedule 8 candidates, making
a recommendation provides an alternative to
use of the veto.

Tud-22

Police and crime panels 17



Making recommendations on
Schedule 1 and Schedule 8

appointments

Under the Act the panel may recommend to
the PCC that the appointment be made, or
that it not be made. A recommendation that
an appointment is not made is not the same
as a veto, and the PCC can, if he or she
chooses, ignore such a recommendation.

The only example of a pre-appointment
hearing in the Commons leading to a
recommendation not to appoint was that of
the proposed children’s commissioner. In

this section, we will draw lessons from that
experience and examine how a process for
recommending approval, and rejection, might
work in practice.

It is important to appreciate that any negative
determination by the panel could have an
undesirable effect on the candidate’s career
options. It is suggested therefore that the
affected candidate should ideally have at
least a few days to consider their position
and ask any further questions they may

have about the process before information is
released to the press and general public.

To achieve this, it is suggested that a five
working day period should elapse between
the hearing and the release of information
about ANY recommendation from the panel
whether positive or otherwise.

An understanding about this arrangement
would need to be discussed and agreed with
the PCC and their staff who might otherwise
release information about appointments
separately from the panel.

Tud 23

Delaying any announcement about
favourable panel recommendations and
associated appointment announcements
would be necessary to avoid unfavourable
recommendations becoming automatically
associated with a delay. This would in effect
create the same outcome for unfavourable
recommendations as if the information had
been released straight away.

Although the five day period is suggested

in order to ensure fairness to the candidate,
it is recognised that there may be some
circumstances where their best interest
would be served by a quicker release

of information. In all cases, a consistent
approach to the release of information would
need to be discussed and agreed with the
PCC and their staff.

Recommending approval

This will be straightforward. The Act requires
that recommendations to appoint should be
communicated to the PCC in writing. This
should happen immediately following the
making of the decision (ie the next working
day).

The candidate should be copied into the
communication. It is suggested however
that the PCC should be asked not to make
the result of the appointment public until five
days has elapsed following the date of the
hearing for the reasons explained above.

=

18 Police and crime panels



Similarly the panel should wait five working
days before it releases any information
about its recommendations. In any event
the panel should also ensure that the

PCC has received and acknowledged the
panel’s recommendations before making its
recommendations public.

Recommending refusal

This will involve more work. Refusal should
only be recommended rarely, under the
circumstances identified in the section on the
decision-making process.

Where refusal is recommended, on the next
working day the PCC should be notified

of the refusal in writing. Appended to the
refusal should be a summary of the principal
reasons for that refusal.

Both should be treated as separate
documents so that the letter recommending
refusal can later be formally published
without risking a breach of the Data
Protection Act.

The next four working days will be available
to all parties — including the candidate —

to consider their next moves before the
recommendation is made public. The reason
why we suggest that no information be
disseminated publicly until after this time

is to ensure that the process is fair to the
candidate as explained above.

Tud-24

There are three likely scenarios that might
follow a refusal recommendation by the
panel:

* The PCC continues with the appointment.
If this happens the recommendation
to refuse would be published after five
working days, along with a summary as
to why the recommendation was made.
The PCC should make a response at
the same time as the publication of the
recommendation, focusing on why he/she
felt that the candidate did in fact meet the
minimum standards for the post.

* The candidate decides to withdraw. If this
happens the recommendation to refuse
would be published after five working days
along with the relevant summary, but no
further information would be published
from either side.

» The PCC decides not to appoint. If this
happens, the recommendation to refuse,
and the summary, would be published
alongside a statement by the PCC setting
out a timetable and process to make a new
appointment.

At each point the candidate will need to liaise
with the PCC. The panel should not attempt
to liaise with the candidate either directly, or
through the host authority’s monitoring officer
or leading HR officer.

The panel may wish to recommend refusal,
rather than exercising the veto, in the case of
a Schedule 8 appointment.

This might be considered when the panel
feels that the candidate essentially meets the
minimum standards, but has shortcomings
that mean it would be inappropriate to
appoint. It is envisaged that the veto would
only be used in exceptional situations.

Police and crime panels 19



The veto (for Schedule 8
appointments only)

Use of the power of veto

In an earlier section we considered the
effect that the veto might have on potential
candidates for the role of chief constable.
Research carried out by the Constitution
Unit in 2010 concluded that the introduction
of a veto into the existing system of select
committee pre-appointment hearings might
well act to dissuade candidates from coming
forward.

It should be recognised that the PCC’s power
to appoint — subject to the confirmation
hearings process — has been provided by

the Government to allow the PCC to appoint
the person thought most appropriate. This
will be a corporate decision, led by the PCC
as an individual, but backed up through their
secretariat, whose HR functions and internal
appointment procedures will provide a ‘due
diligence’ check on the candidate’s suitability.
The veto should only be exercised where

it is clear to the panel that there has been

a significant failure of those ‘due diligence’
checks, to the extent that the candidate is not
appointable. This is, rightly, a very high bar.

Systems and processes will therefore need
to be designed to ensure that the veto is
used extremely rarely. It should be used only
where the panel feels that the candidate fails
to make the minimum standards for the post.

Tud 25

Process for the veto

A possible process for the veto is set out
below. In designing arrangements for the use
of the veto, the content of any relevant Home
Office Regulations should also be considered
carefully?'.

Where the veto is exercised on a Schedule
8 appointment, the PCC must not appoint.
The veto should be notified to the PCC on
the next working day following the hearing.
The PCC will be responsible for notifying the
candidate.

It is suggested that after five working days
the panel will publish its veto and the PCC,
alongside this information, will publish
information setting out the steps that will be
taken to make another appointment. As we
have suggested for recommendations of
refusal of appointments, the five day period
following the hearing can be used by the
relevant parties to consider their responses.
If however the candidate’s interests would
be better served by a quicker release of
information, this can be discussed and
agreed with the PCC.

21 At the time of writing this guidance, the content of pending
Home Office Regulations covering the use of the veto has not
been finally determined. Early drafts of the Regulations indicate
that the panel will not be able to veto the PCC’s second choice
of candidate if the panel has already used its veto on the
previous candidate.

=

20 Police and crime panels



The exercise of the veto (or a
recommendation for refusal) should act as
the impetus to a discussion between the
panel and PCC about how HR processes
within the PCC’s secretariat might be
reviewed.

Tud-26

Police and crime panels 21



Local 18

Government

Association

Local Government Association
Local Government House

Smith Square

London SW1P 3HZ

Telephone 020 7664 3000
Fax 020 7664 3030

Email info@local.gov.uk
www.local.gov.uk

© Local Government Association, August 2012

For a copy in Braille, larger print or audio,
please contact us on 020 7664 3000.
We consider requests on an individual basis.

Tud 27
L12-545



College of
Policing

Guidance for the
Appointment of
Chief Officers

November 2012 - Version 1.0

Tud 28




@ CD"E E Df Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers
Policing

Copyright

© College of Policing 2012.

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, modified, amended,
stored in any retrieval system or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without the
prior written permission of the College of Policing or its representative.

For additional copies, or to enquire about the content of the document, please contact
the College of Policing on (01423) 876606.

For copyright specific enquiries, please telephone the College of Policing Library on
(01256) 602650.

November 2012 - Version 1.0

Tud 29
NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



©®

CD"E E ﬂf Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers

P0|ICII"IQ

Contents
1 Introduction......c.cciiiiiiiirs i s v 4
2 Eligibility/Legal Requirements.......cccvaiimrmiemmsrnersssasnassssassassasanns 5
3 Principles of Appointment.........cciciiiiimiriiaisrs s sa s 7
4 Responsibilities......ciiciiriariraiariramarsa i ss s s snasans 8
5 Appointments Process Steps.......ciciirimrrarimimrarinirara s 19
6 Temporary and Acting Appointments.........ccciiciiicnisnnic s 28
7 [ = = o ] o F 28
8 [ oY 3 T oo ] 3 T « T 28
9 R 1 5T 5 T T o 31
Glossary Of TermsS...ciciiermrariarassariarsamsnsassarsasassassssassassnsassassassnsansassnsasnnss 32
Useful LinKS.....ocioiiiimirarisirr s s s s s s s s s s s s s s nmnasasnnnns 33
November 2012 - Version 1.0
Tud 30

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



.. College of

]
.

2% Policing

Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers

November 2012 - Version 1.0

Tud 31
NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



©®

CD"E E ﬂf Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers

P0|ICII"IQ

Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers

Tud 32

1.1

1.2

1.3

Introduction

This Guidance was commissioned by the Strategic Command Course
Professional Reference Group. It was developed under the direction of the
Police Advisory Board for England & Wales (PABEW) Sub-Group on Chief
Officer Appointments which included representatives of the stakeholder
bodies from across policing. It was endorsed by the PABEW. The Guidance
is owned and maintained by the College of Policing. It combines legal
requirements, Home Office Circular 20/2012 and good practice in

appointments.

It describes the principles, processes and responsibilities required for the
appointment of Chief Constables (CCs), Deputy Chief Constables (DCCs)
and Assistant Chief Constables (ACCs). It also describes the requirements
for the appointment of the Commissioner, Deputy Commissioner (DC),
Assistant Commissioners (ACs), Deputy Assistant Commissioners (DACs)
and Commanders within the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS). The
Guidance reflects the intention that those responsible for appointments
should use their discretion providing that they act lawfully and consistently
with the principles outlined in the Guidance. These principles are the same
as those within the Code of Practice for Public Appointments (2012) as

published by the Commissioner for Public Appointments.

The guiding principles and processes included within this document do not
directly apply to non-Home Office Forces but may be found to be a helpful

guide where appropriate.

November 2012 - Version 1.0 4

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

Tud 33

@ _College of
2 Policing

Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers

Eligibility/Legal Requirements

Under Schedule 8 to the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011
(the Act), a Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) must not appoint a
person to be CC unless that person is, or has been, a constable in any part
of the United Kingdom.

Part 1 of Annex B of the Secretary of State’s determinations, made under
Regulation 11 of the Police Regulations 2003 (Home Office Circular
21/2012), specifies that the Senior Police National Assessment Centre
(Senior PNAC) and the Strategic Command Course (SCC) must be
satisfactorily completed before a person may be substantively appointed to
a rank higher than that of Chief Superintendent. The College of Policing
holds records of officers who have passed Senior PNAC and the SCC which
should be requested by those responsible for appointing chief officers in

order to verify policing qualifications and experience.

Appointments to chief officer posts are also subject to regulations under
Section 50 of the Police Act 1996. These regulations provide the Secretary
of State with powers to define specified eligibility requirements for
appointment and holding the office of constable and aspects of terms and
conditions amongst other provisions. Appointments must be made in

keeping with any requirements prescribed under these regulations.

In making appointments, provisions of the Equality Act 2010 and the Data
Protection Act 1998 must be complied with (more detail in relation to this

can be found under section 8 - Monitoring).

November 2012 - Version 1.0

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



Tud 34

. College of
" Policing

2.5

2.5.1

2.5.2

2.6

2.6.1

2.6.2

2.6.3

2.6.4

Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers

Outside London

Section 38 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (the Act)
requires the appointment of CCs to be made by PCCs subject to a
confirmatory hearing held in accordance with the Police and Crime Panel

(PCP) (Precepts and Chief Constable Appointments) Regulations 2012.

Sections 39 and 40 of the Act relate to the appointment of Chief Officers
(DCCs and ACCs) by CCs for forces across England and Wales outside

London.

London

Sections 42, 43, 45, 46 and 47 of the Act make provision for the
appointment of senior MPS officers including Commissioner, DC, AC, DAC

and Commander respectively.

This Guidance does not apply to the appointment of the Commissioner and
AC of the City of London Police which continues to be governed by the City
of London Police Act 1839.

In the context of the MPS, the Mayor of London is the holder of the Mayor’s
Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC) (although he or she may delegate
the day-to-day discharge of his or her policing and crime functions to a
Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime (DMPC)). The Commissioner is
appointed by Royal Warrant based on the recommendation of the Secretary
of State. The Secretary of State is required to have regard to any
recommendations by the Mayor’s Office.

The DC is also appointed by Royal Warrant based on the recommendation
of the Secretary of State. The Secretary of State must have regard to any
recommendations made by the Commissioner and any representations from

the Mayor’s Office.

November 2012 - Version 1.0 6

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



©®

Tud 35

College of
P0|ICII"IQ

2.6.5

3.1

3.2

3.2.1

3.3

3.3.1

3.4

3.4.1

Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers

ACs, DACs and Commanders are appointed by the Commissioner. Before a
person is appointed to any of these posts the Commissioner must consult

the Mayor’s Office.

Principles of Appointment

PCCs and CCs are required to adhere to legal requirements relating to the
appointments they make. This section outlines the principles which

underpin effective appointments. Those responsible for the selection and
appointment of Chief Officers must observe the three principles of merit,

fairness and openness. These are outlined below:

Merit

The appointee must be the candidate who best meets the agreed and
published requirements of the role. It is also desirable that the successful
candidate is chosen from a sufficiently strong and diverse pool of eligible

applicants.

Fairness

The process of assessing candidates’ skills and qualities against the agreed
and published requirements of the role must be objective, impartial and

applied consistently to all candidates.

Openness

Information about the requirements of the role and the appointment
process must be available to all prospective candidates. The role should be
advertised in a way which ensures that all those who are eligible are likely
to see the advert. The aim of the advert should be to attract a strong field

of potential candidates.

November 2012 - Version 1.0 7

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



©®

Tud 36

College of
P0|ICII"IQ

4.1

4.2

4.2.1

4.2.1.1

4.2.1.2

Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers

Responsibilities

There are a number of individuals and groups who have responsibilities
relating to the appointment of Chief Officers. Whilst the process of
appointment is at the discretion of the individual responsible for the
process, there are essential requirements for meeting the principles of
merit, fairness and openness and responsibilities outlined in legislation,
which must be followed in all cases. These are described in more detail

below.

Appointment of Chief Constables

Police and Crime Commissioner

It is for PCCs to decide how they wish to run their appointment process.

It is the PCC’s role to make the decision about which candidate to appoint,
subject to the power of the PCP to veto the first candidate proposed. There
are a series of processes which the PCC will need to consider putting in
place prior to the decision making stage. Although the PCC may not put all
these processes in place personally, he or she should have oversight and

hold responsibility for ensuring these are done.

¢ Undertake appropriate briefing/training in selection and assessment
themselves

e Ensure others involved in the appointment process undertake
appropriate briefing/training in selection and assessment

e Manage the development of the role profile and appointment criteria,
including specifying any competency framework being used

¢ Develop and place the job advertisement, based on the requirements
of the role as outlined further in 5.2.3, 5.2.4 and 5.3

November 2012 - Version 1.0 8

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



@ CD"E E ﬂf Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers
Policing

¢ Ensure a sufficient pool of candidates. If there is only a single
candidate, take steps to increase the pool including, if necessary,
reviewing the role profile

e Develop an application process including any documents required from
the candidate (application form, reports from current PCC or CC)

e Convene an appointments panel (to include at least one independent
panel member)

e Provide the appointments panel (including the independent member or
members) with a copy of this Guidance to ensure they are familiar with
its content

e In collaboration with the appointments panel, assess and shortlist
applicants against the agreed appointment criteria (including verifying
an applicant’s policing experience and qualifications with the College of
Policing)

e Develop an assessment process. (This might include interview,
presentations, psychometric measures or other types of exercises)

e In collaboration with the appointments panel, assess all shortlisted
candidates against the agreed appointment criteria

e Complete a decision making process considering which candidate most
closely matches the appointment criteria

e Inform the PCP of the name of the preferred candidate they propose to
appoint, the criteria used to assess the suitability of the candidate for
the appointment, why the candidate satisfies those criteria and the
terms and conditions on which the candidate is to be appointed

e Review the report and recommendation of the PCP

e Make the appointment (if the appointment is not vetoed by the PCP! -
please see 5.11 for details on the process of veto)

e Inform the PCP of the name of the reserve candidate he or she
proposes to appoint should the preferred candidate’s appointment be
vetoed by the PCP; the criteria used to assess the suitability of the
candidate for the appointment, why the candidate satisfies those

! Based upon the provisions and practices within The Police and Crime Panels (Precepts and Chief Constable
Appointments) Regulations 2012.

November 2012 - Version 1.0 9

Tud 37
NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



©®

Tud 38

College of
P0|ICII"IQ

Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers

criteria and the terms and conditions on which the candidate is to be
appointed

e Provide feedback, if requested, to candidates

e Ensure the appointments processes are undertaken in accordance with
relevant legislation

e Ensure the appointments process is based on the three principles of
merit, fairness and openness

e Ensure appropriate monitoring of the appointment process.
4.2.2 Appointments Panel

4.2.2.1 The appointments panel should be convened by the PCC before any stage of
the appointment process takes place (e.g. sifting of applications).
Consideration may be given to having panel members involved in helping to

define the requirements of the role.

4.2.2.2 The purpose of the panel is to challenge and test that the candidate meets
the necessary requirements to perform the role. The PCC should select a
panel capable of discharging this responsibility. It is the PCC’s
responsibility to ensure that panel members are diverse and suitably

experienced and competent in selection practices.

4.2.2.3 It is desirable to select a panel of approximately five members, however
this will be at the discretion of the PCC. All members of the appointments
panel must adhere to the principles of merit, fairness and openness. All
members should be provided with a copy of this Guidance to ensure they

are familiar with its content prior to the appointment process.

4.2.2.4 The role of the appointments panel is to support the PCC in making the
appointment by:

e Undertaking appropriate briefing/assessor training
e In collaboration with the PCC, shortlisting applicants against the agreed

appointment criteria

November 2012 - Version 1.0 10

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



©®

College of
P0|ICII"IQ

4.2.2.5

4.2.3

4.2.3.1

4.2.3.2

4.2.3.3

Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers

e In collaboration with the PCC, assessing all shortlisted candidates
against the agreed appointment criteria
e In collaboration with the PCC, considering which candidate(s) most

closely meets the appointment criteria.

Members of the appointments panel may include, but are not limited to,
PCCs from other areas, professionals from the College of Policing, senior
individuals from the private sector, members of community groups or

executive selection specialists.

Independent Members

At least one of the appointments panel members should be an independent
member?. The PCC should appoint the independent member through a fair,
open and merit based process. They may be drawn from an established
pool of accredited independent members or assessors (e.g. lists of
accredited members/assessors held by the College of Policing or Office of

the Commissioner for Public Appointments).

The types of people suitable for the role of independent panel member
might also include, but are not limited to, magistrates, chief executives of

local authorities, and representatives of community organisations.

The independent panel member should not be a PCC, a member of the PCC
staff, a member of the Police and Crime Panel, a Member of Parliament or
Member of European Parliament, local councillor, serving or retired police
officer or member of police staff, civil servant, member of the National
Assembly for Wales, Northern Ireland Assembly or the Scottish
Government, HMIC staff, IPCC commissioner/staff, or College of Policing
staff.

2 The HO Circular 20/2012 specifies the inclusion of an independent member as part of the
appointments panel.

Tud 39

November 2012 - Version 1.0 11

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



@ CD"E E ﬂf Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers
Policing

4.2.3.4 Although the Home Office Circular specifies certain roles that are not
eligible to be an independent member, this does not preclude those within
these roles being part of the appointments process and/or the wider
appointments panel in other roles. This involvement would be at the
discretion of the PCC.

4.2.3.5 The role of the independent member is to ensure the appointment process
is conducted in line with the principles of merit, fairness and openness, and

the successful candidate is selected on merit. This role requires them to:

e Be suitability experienced and competent in assessment and selection
practices

e Undertake appropriate briefing/assessor training

e In collaboration with the PCC and other panel members, shortlist
applicants against the agreed appointment criteria

e In collaboration with the PCC and other panel members, assess all
shortlisted candidates against the agreed appointment criteria

e In collaboration with the PCC and other panel members consider which
candidate(s) most closely meets the appointment criteria

e Produce a written report on the appointment process. This is to be
submitted to the PCP at the same time as the name of the preferred
appointee. This report should expressly and explicitly address the
appointment principles of merit, fairness and openness, and the extent
to which the panel were able to fulfil their purpose (e.g. to challenge and
test that the candidate meets the necessary requirements to perform

the role).

4.2.3.6 If there is more than one independent member they should seek to agree a

single report for submission to the PCP.

November 2012 - Version 1.0 12

Tud 40
NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



©®

Tud 41

College of
P0|ICII"IQ

4.2.4

Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers

Policing Advisor

4.2.4.1 There is no requirement for an individual with professional policing

knowledge to act either as a member of the appointments panel or in an
advisory capacity during any stage of the appointment process. However
should a PCC choose to include such an individual in the process, the role of
the Policing Advisor is to provide the PCC with professional advice at an
appropriate level from a policing perspective. Responsibilities may include
one or more of the following in an advisory capacity to be determined by

the PCC responsible for the appointment process:

Provide professional policing advice in the development and design of
the appointment process including role profile contents, assessment
contents and assessment criteria where required

Provide professional policing advice on how well each candidate’s
experience and skKills fit with the policing-specific requirements of the
role during shortlisting

To play an active role (where required) as part of the appointments
panel in reviewing the documented procedures and related assessment
material, conducting interviews/assessment exercises and making an
independent assessment of the candidate’s performance against the
required criteria

Provide professional policing advice on how well each candidate’s
experience and skills fit with the policing-specific requirements of the
role during the appointment process

To support the PCC during their decision making process prior to an

appointment being made.

4.2.4.2 The Policing Advisor may be drawn from an established pool of accredited

individuals. Further advice is available from the College of Policing.

November 2012 - Version 1.0 13

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



©®

Tud 42

College of
P0|ICII"IQ

Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers

4.2.5 Chief Executive of the PCC Office

4.2.5.1 The role of the Chief Executive is to support the PCC in undertaking his or
her responsibilities. In supporting the PCC in the appointments process the

Chief Executive should fulfil the following responsibilities:

e Ensure the principles of merit, fairness and openness are adhered to
throughout the design and delivery of the appointment process

e Advise and assist the PCC throughout the appointment process

e Ensure that the appointment process is properly conducted and in line
with responsibilities and requirements outlined in legislation

e Ensure appropriate monitoring of the appointment process.
4.2.6 Applicants

4.2.6.1 The role of the applicant is to comply with the requirements of the

appointments process. They should be expected to fulfil the following:

e Complete and submit a written application in accordance with published
deadlines

e Provide and ensure that all information requested as part of the
appointment process is accurate and complete (e.g. reports by existing
PCC/CC)

e Attend the appointment assessment(s)

e Successful candidates will be required to participate in the confirmation
hearing held by the PCP (see 5.10.4 and 5.10.5 for more detail).

4.2.7 Police and Crime Panel

4.2.7.1 The PCP’s role is to review and scrutinise decisions of the PCC as set out in
the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 Chapter 5. In line with
this responsibility they have specific responsibilities within the appointment

process as set out in Schedule 8 to the Act.

November 2012 - Version 1.0 14

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



©®

Tud 43

College of
P0|ICII"IQ

4.2.7.2

4.2.7.3

4.3

4.3.1

4.3.1.1

4.3.1.2

Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers

The PCP is required to consider recommendations made by the PCC in

terms of the appointment. The PCP should satisfy itself that the process
was properly conducted and adhered to the principles of merit, openness
and fairness and that the preferred candidate meets the requirements of

the role by:

e Considering the report submitted by the independent member

e Reviewing the PCC’s proposed appointment

e Holding a public confirmation meeting

e Making a report to the PCC on the proposed appointment, including a
recommendation as to whether or not the candidate should be
appointed. This must be done within three weeks of being notified of

the proposed appointment. The PCP must publish this report.

The PCP can veto the appointment if agreed by at least two thirds of the
PCP members within three weeks of being notified of the proposed
appointment (see process guidance on the process of vetoing appointments
in 5.11).

Appointment of DCCs, ACCs, ACs, DACs, or Commanders

The Role of Chief Constable/Commissioner

It is for CCs to decide how they wish to run their appointment process.
Appointments must be made in accordance with Regulation 11 of the Police
Regulations 2003 and the relevant parts of the Police Reform and Social
Responsibility Act 2011.

It is the CC’s role to make the decision about which candidate to appoint.
However in line with the Act, the CC must consult with the PCC in relation
to the appointments of DCCs/ACCs for forces outside London. The CC must
consult the PCC on any proposed increase in numbers of DCCs or ACCs and

may wish to consult on any decrease. Before appointing a DCC, ACC, AC,

November 2012 - Version 1.0 15

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



©®

Tud 44

College of
P0|ICII"IQ

Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers

DAC or Commander the CC or Commissioner is required to consult the PCC

or Mayor’s Office respectively.

4.3.1.3 There are a series of processes which the CC will need to consider putting in
place prior to the decision making stage. Although the CC may not put all
these processes in place personally, he or she should have oversight and

hold responsibility for ensuring these are done.

e Consult with the PCC in relation to whether an appointment is required
and/or any proposed increase in numbers of DCCs or ACCs - for forces
outside London

e Undertake appropriate briefing/training in selection and assessment

e Ensure others involved in the appointment process undertake
appropriate briefing/training in appointment and assessment

e Manage the development of the role profile and appointment criteria,
including specifying any competency framework being used

e Develop and place the job advertisement, based on the role profile as
outlined further in 5.2.3, 5.2.4 and 5.3.

e Ensure a sufficient pool of candidates. If there is only a single candidate
take steps to increase the pool including, if necessary, reviewing the role
profile

e Develop an application process including any documents required from
the candidate (application form, reports from current CC)

e Convene an appointments panel (to include at least one independent
panel member)

e Provide the appointments panel (including the independent member or
members) with a copy of this Guidance to ensure they are familiar with
its content

e In collaboration with the appointments panel, assess and shortlist
applicants against the agreed appointment criteria (including verifying
an applicant’s policing experience and qualifications with the College of
Policing)

e Develop an assessment process and appropriate exercises (this might

include interview, presentations, psychometric measures, exercises etc)

November 2012 - Version 1.0 16

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



@ College of
P0|ICII"IQ

4.3.2

4.3.2.1

4.3.2.2

4.3.2.3

Tud 45

Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers

e In collaboration with the appointments panel, assess shortlisted
candidates against the agreed appointment criteria

e Complete a decision making process considering which candidate most
closely matches the requirements of the role

e Consult the PCC on the intended appointment

e Make the appointment

e Provide feedback, if requested, to candidates

e Ensure the appointments processes are undertaken in accordance with
relevant legislation

e Ensure the appointments process is based on the three principles of
merit, fairness and openness

e Ensure appropriate monitoring of the appointment process.

Appointments Panel

The appointments panel should be convened by the CC before any stage of
the appointment process takes place (e.g. sifting of applications).
Consideration may be given to having panel members involved in helping to

define the requirements of the role.

The purpose of the panel is to challenge and test that the candidate meets
the necessary requirements to perform the role. The CC should select a
panel capable of discharging this responsibility. It is the CC’s responsibility
to ensure that panel members are diverse and suitably experienced and

competent in assessment and selection practices.

It is desirable to select a panel of approximately five members, however
this will be at the discretion of the CC. All members of the appointments
panel must adhere to the principles of merit, fairness and openness. All

members should be provided with a copy of this Guidance to ensure they

are familiar with its content prior to the appointment process.

November 2012 - Version 1.0 17

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



©®

College of
P0|ICII"IQ

4.3.2.4

4.3.2.5

4.3.2.6

4.3.3

4.3.3.1

4.3.3.2

Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers

The role of the appointments panel is to support the CC in making the

appointment by:

e Undertaking appropriate briefing/assessor training

e In collaboration with the CC, shortlisting applicants against the agreed
appointment criteria

e In collaboration with the CC, assessing all shortlisted candidates against
the agreed appointment criteria

e In collaboration with the CC considering which candidate(s) most closely

meets the appointment criteria.

Members of the appointments panel may include, but are not limited to, the
PCC, officers or staff of suitable rank/level from the appointing or other
forces, professionals from the College of Policing, senior individuals from
the private sector, members of community groups or executive selection

specialists.

CCs or the MPS Commissioner may also consider the inclusion of Policing
Advisors where the role contains areas of policing with which they are less

familiar.

Independent Members

At least one of the appointments panel members should be an independent
member. Principles governing the selection of an independent member and

restrictions on appointment outlined in 4.2.3 also apply in this context.

The role of the independent panel member outlined in 4.2.3 also applies
here®. However, whereas in 4.2.3 the independent member produces a

report for consideration by the PCP here they would submit this to the PCC

3 Please note that the role of an independent panel member makes it inappropriate for certain
specified people/roles to operate in this capacity (see 4.2.3.3). However, those excluded from
the role of independent member may be involved as panel members just not within the
independent member role (see 4.2.2.5).

Tud 46

November 2012 - Version 1.0 18

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



©®

Tud 47

College of
P0|ICII"IQ

4.3.4

4.3.4.1

5.1

5.1.1

5.1.2

5.1.2.1

5.1.3

5.1.3.1

Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers

at the same time as the CC consults the PCC about the proposed appointee.
This report should expressly and explicitly address the appointment
principles of merit, fairness and openness, and the extent to which the
panel were able to fulfil their purpose (e.g. to challenge and test that the

candidate meets the necessary requirements to perform the role).

Applicants

The role of the applicant is as outlined at 4.2.6.

Appointments Process Steps

Planning

Potential vacancies should be identified by the individual responsible for the
appointment as early as possible to enable proper planning. If a vacancy is
identified the key requirements for the role should be established.
Appointments made by the PCC

At a suitably early stage the PCC should liaise with the Chair of the PCP to
put in place arrangements for the PCP and public confirmation hearing in
order to maximise availability and minimise delay. There is a requirement
to have at least one week between calling and holding a public meeting.

Appointments made by the CC or Commissioner

The CC or Commissioner should arrange a meeting with the PCC or MOPAC

as applicable in order to consult them on the intended appointment.

November 2012 - Version 1.0 19

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



Tud 48

: 3 -. | ) CD"EQE 'Df Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers

Policing

5.2

5.2.1

5.2.2

5.2.3

5.2.3.1

5.2.4

5.2.4.1

5.2.4.2

5.2.4.3

Development of Role Profile

This is one of the most important elements of the appointment process. It
is the document against which assessments of candidates will be made, and

which applicants will base their evidence of suitability upon.

The role profile should set out the key deliverables of the job, along with
the skills and any competencies identified as required to perform effectively

in post.

Key Deliverables

Key deliverables should reflect the PCC'’s priorities and how these are
embedded within the force’s operational priorities. It should be clear what

the post holder will be responsible for delivering.

Key Skills

The skills required to perform the key deliverables should be clearly
specified. It is desirable that these are based upon the three Leadership

Domains of Executive Policing, Professional Policing and Business Policing.

It is the PCC/CC's decision as to which skills should be included, but these

should relate clearly to the key deliverables and demands of the role.

In addition to skills this section may contain competencies which describe
the underpinning behavioural approach or personal qualities required to
perform the role. It is desirable that these are based upon national
competency frameworks (i.e. Personal Qualities from the Policing

Professional Framework).

November 2012 - Version 1.0 20

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



: = =:: - CD"E_'g"E ﬂf Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers
4 Policing

5.2.4.4 Further advice, including information about the Policing Professional
Framework and Leadership Domains, can be obtained from the College of

Policing.

5.3 Job Advert

5.3.1 The job advertisement must be based on the role profile and include any
other information potential applicants will need to know before making the

decision to apply.

5.3.2 The role profile should cover:

e Purpose of the post - linked to priorities and force plans

e Key deliverables

e Key skills

e Eligibility

e Length of fixed term appointment

e Full details of salary and benefits

e Details of the location of the post

e Full details of the appointments process including timings for the

appointment process and confirmation hearing.

5.3.3 The vacancy must be advertised for at least three weeks and must be
advertised through a public website or some other form of publication that

deals with policing matters.

5.3.4 Guidance to applicants should be provided, giving details of any
skills/competencies required and any special rules or expectations relating
to the application e.g. any documents or reports they must supply and the

deadline for submitting an application.

November 2012 - Version 1.0 21

Tud 49
NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



©®

Tud 50

College of
P0|ICII"IQ

5.4

5.4.1

5.5

5.5.1

5.5.2

5.5.3

5.6

5.6.1

Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers

Convene Appointments Panel

The appointments panel (including the independent panel member or
members) should be convened as early as possible to allow time for
appropriate training or briefing. It is advisable that the appointments panel
and PCC/CC meet at least once to discuss the process prior to the start of
the shortlisting stage. The panel should fully understand the process of

assessment and the criteria against which assessments will be made.

Conduct Training/Briefing of Appointments Panel

It may be appropriate to conduct a briefing to familiarise members of the
appointments panel with the components of the process and refresh their
knowledge of relevant procedures and legislation (e.g. equality legislation)

and effective appointment practices.

If any members of the appointments panel are new to assessing it is

recommended that training in assessor skills is provided.

A copy of this Guidance should be provided to all panel members to ensure
they are aware of their responsibilities and the principles covered within this

Guidance.

Applications

Candidates should apply using the form or other written application
required by the PCC/CC’s office, demonstrating how they meet the criteria
for the role. To enable accurate assessment, candidates should be
encouraged to provide information that is specific and focussed on their

actions; what they did and what the outcomes were.

November 2012 - Version 1.0 22

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



©®

Tud 51

College of
P0|ICII"IQ

5.7

5.7.1

5.7.2

5.7.3

5.7.4

5.8

5.8.1

5.8.2

5.8.3

Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers

Shortlisting

The appointments panel, led by the PCC/CC, should review the applications
against the pre-defined criteria and identify a suitable number of candidates

to take forward to interview/assessment.

PCCs/CCs should approach the College of Policing to verify that applicants
have attended and passed Senior PNAC and the SCC and any other national

courses relevant to role eligibility requirements.

The appointments panel should use an appropriate rating scale to award
grades to candidates for each of the components or skills they are being

assessed against.

Applicants who are not shortlisted should be informed as soon as possible,
and provided with feedback on request about where they did and did not
meet the requirements of the role and any development needs arising from

their application.

Conduct Assessments/Interviews

Interviews are a widely used selection method and are often supplemented
with other techniques such as requiring the candidates to deliver a role
specific presentation, or to conduct simulated role specific tasks that allow

assessors to observe candidates dealing with role related situations.

An information pack to prospective applicants should provide full details of
the appointments process including dates and any assessments/exercises
that candidates will be required to undertake. This should also contain all

assessment criteria.

The assessment/exercises need to be carefully constructed in order to

derive the maximum benefit from them. This may require professional

November 2012 - Version 1.0 23

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



©®

Tud 52

College of
P0|ICII"IQ

5.8.4

5.9

5.9.1

5.9.2

5.10

5.10.1

Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers

advice to be sought. All assessments should be made against the criteria
set out in the advert and role profile, and no new criteria should be added

without informing the candidates in advance.

The panel members should use the agreed rating scales to award grades for
performance in relation to the exercises and/or any competencies/criteria

measured.

Professional Selection Advice

The PCC/CC may wish to engage professional support or advice from an
individual or organisation with expertise in selection and assessment. Such

an individual or organisation could provide support in:

e Development of the role profile

e Development of appropriate application/sifting process, assessment
exercises, interviews or techniques, in line with best practice and legal
requirements

e Briefing/training panel members in assessing skills

e Assistance in managing/delivering the appointment process.

If professional advice is sought this should be done as early in the process

as possible, ideally as soon as a vacancy is identified.

Appointment and Confirmation of Chief Constables

In line with Schedule 8 to the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act
2011, the PCC should identify the candidate who most closely meets the
requirements of the role, incorporating the recommendations of the

appointments panel members.

November 2012 - Version 1.0 24

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



Tud 53

: 3 -. | ) CD"EQE 'Df Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers

Policing

5.10.2

5.10.3

5.10.4

5.10.5

5.10.6

The PCC must notify the relevant PCP of the following information:

e The name of the person whom the PCC is proposing to appoint (“the
preferred candidate”)

e The criteria used to assess the suitability of the candidate for the
appointment

e Why the candidate satisfies those criteria

e The terms and conditions on which the preferred candidate is to be

appointed.

In the event of a veto on the preferred candidate, the PCC must notify the

PCP of the following information:

e The name of the person whom the PCC is proposing would be the
reserve appointee (“the reserve candidate”)

e The criteria used to assess the suitability of the candidate for the
appointment

e Why the reserve candidate satisfies those criteria

e The terms and conditions on which the reserve candidate would be

appointed.

Once the PCC has notified the PCP of the candidate they are proposing to
appoint, the PCP must review the proposed appointment and hold a
confirmation hearing. A confirmation hearing is a meeting of the PCP, held
in public, at which the candidate is requested to appear for the purpose of

answering questions relating to the appointment.

The candidate does not need to attend in person, but can participate in the
proceedings by any means that enable the person to hear, and be heard in,

those proceedings as they happen.

After the confirmation hearing the PCP must make a report to the PCC on

the proposed appointment which includes a recommendation as to whether

November 2012 - Version 1.0 25

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



©®

Tud 54

College of
P0|ICII"IQ

5.10.7

5.11

5.11.1

5.11.2

5.11.3

5.11.4

Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers

or not the candidate should be appointed. This report must be submitted to
the PCC within the period of three weeks beginning with the day on which
the PCP receives the notification from the PCC of the proposed

appointment. The PCP is required to publish its report.

The PCP may, having reviewed the proposed appointment, veto the

appointment of the preferred candidate.

Veto of Appointment of Chief Constable

In order to veto the appointment, at least two thirds of the persons who are
members of the PCP at the time the decision is made must vote to veto the
appointment. The power of veto only applies during the period of three
weeks beginning with the day on which the PCP receives the notification
from the PCC of the proposed appointment.

If the PCP vetoes the appointment their report must include a statement
that the appointment has been vetoed and the PCC must not appoint the
candidate. If the PCP does not veto the appointment the PCC may accept
or reject the panel’s recommendation as to whether or not the candidate

should be appointed.

The PCC must notify the PCP of the decision to accept or reject their
recommendation. The PCC may then make an offer of appointment subject
to any further checks (e.g. conduct/medical/vetting).

In the event of a veto being exercised the PCP must undertake a further
confirmation hearing to consider the PCC’s proposed reserve candidate.

The same process for considering this candidate and reporting to the PCC
applies in these instances. The subsequent report produced by the PCP
should include a recommendation as to whether or not the candidate should
be appointed. The PCP is required to publish its report. These

requirements are set out within The Police and Crime Panels (Precepts and

November 2012 - Version 1.0 26

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers

_College of
4 Policing

Chief Constables Appointments) Regulations 2012 Part 3 Regulations 9 and
10.

5.11.5 The PCP power to veto a candidate only applies to one particular
appointment process. Therefore, should the same candidate apply again
for a subsequent position, this would be a fresh appointment process and, if
the PCC put forward the same candidate again, the PCP would have to

deploy their veto again, if that was their decision.

5.11.6 Once the appointment and confirmation is finalised the details should be
publicised by the PCC.

5.12 Appointment of other Chief Officers

5.12.1 The CC should identify the candidate who most closely meets the
requirements of the role, incorporating the recommendations of the

appointments panel members.

5.12.2 In line with the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, the CC
should consult with the PCC regarding the proposed appointment.

5.13 Post Appointment

5.13.1 Once an appointment has been made to any chief officer role, the PCC or
CC, as appropriate, should provide data as specified by the College of
Policing for monitoring purposes (details of what is required will be made
available in due course). This data will be used in relation to the monitoring

of the national workforce profile of Chief Officers.

November 2012 - Version 1.0 27

Tud 55
NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



Tud 56

_College of
4 Policing

6.1

7.1

7.2

8.1

8.1.1

Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers

Temporary and Acting Appointments

Section 41 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 outlines
the power of a deputy to exercise the functions of a CC on a temporary

basis.

Extensions

Commissioners, Deputy Commissioners, CCs and DCCs are subject to fixed
term appointments. The duration of these initial appointments is for the
PCC/MOPAC to determine as part of the appointments process subject to a

five year maximum.

An extension is subject to Regulation 11 of the Police Regulations 2003.

Monitoring

The Equality Act 2010

Those involved in the appointment of Chief Officers must ensure that they
comply with provisions of the Equality Act 2010. The Act prohibits
discrimination, harassment and other unlawful conduct because of

protected characteristics which are:

e Age
o Disability
e Gender reassignment
e Marriage and civil partnership
e Pregnancy and maternity
e Race
e Religion or belief
e Sex
o Sexual orientation
November 2012 - Version 1.0 28

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



©®

Tud 57

College of
P0|ICII"IQ

8.1.2

8.1.3

8.1.4

8.1.5

Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers

The Equality Act sets out the different ways in which it is unlawful to treat
someone, such as direct and indirect discrimination, harassment,
victimisation and failing to make a reasonable adjustment for a disabled

person.

A key measure in the Equality Act 2010 is the public-sector Equality Duty,
which came into force on 5 April 2011 and places a legal duty on public
authorities to take account of the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination,
harassment and victimisation as well as to promote equal opportunities and
encourage good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and those who do not. The Police Reform and Social
Responsibility Act 2011 amends the Equality Act to make the public-sector
equality duty apply to PCCs and the MOPAC.

The Equality Duty has three aims. It requires public bodies to have due
regard to the need to:

¢ Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and
any other conduct prohibited by the Act

e Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a
protected characteristic and people who do not share it

¢ Foster good relations between people who share a protected

characteristic and people who do not share it.

In order to adhere to the aims of the Equality Duty, PCCs/CCs must ensure:

e That they are aware of the requirements of the Equality Duty.
Compliance with the Equality Duty involves a conscious approach

e Compliance with the Equality Duty before and at the time of the
appointments process including the final decision making process. A
public body cannot satisfy the Equality Duty by justifying a decision after
it has been taken

November 2012 - Version 1.0 29

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



©®

Tud 58

College of
P0|ICII"IQ

8.2

8.2.1

8.2.2

Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers

e Consideration of the three aims of the Equality Duty must form an
integral part of the decision-making process and must be applied with
rigour

e That they have sufficient information to give proper consideration to the
Equality Duty

e Responsibility for ensuring that any third parties involved in the
appointment process are capable of complying with the Equality Duty,
and that they do so in practice. It is a duty that cannot be delegated

e There is no explicit requirement to refer to the Equality Duty in recording
the process of consideration but it is good practice to do so. Keeping a
record of how appointment decisions were reached will help PCCs/CCs

demonstrate that they considered the aims of the Equality Duty.

The Data Protection Act 1998

It is important that the individual responsible for the appointment process is
familiar with their responsibilities in relation to the Data Protection Act
(DPA) 1998. The DPA 1998 regulates how and when information about
candidates and employees may be obtained, held and disclosed.
Information covered by the DPA includes computerised records, health

records and manual records. The DPA states that information is:

e To be processed fairly and lawfully

e To be adequate for the purpose (i.e. to make a fair appointment
decision)

e To be relevant and not excessive

e To be accurate

e Not kept any longer than is necessary.

Candidates who have records kept with their details are entitled to formal
access to those records as well as the reasons why they are being used. In

relation to the appointment process, this refers to all notes taken during the

November 2012 - Version 1.0 30

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



©®

Tud 59

College of
P0|ICII"IQ

9.1

9.2

Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers

process, either in relation to candidates’ verbatim comments or notes on

appointment decisions.

Support

The College of Policing will be providing an appointments toolkit which can
be used at the discretion of PCCs and CCs in supporting appointments

processes.

For any comments or queries on the contents of this Guidance or for any
support with your appointment process please contact the College of

Policing:

Gordon Ryan
College of Policing
Yew Tree Lane
Pannal Ash
Harrogate

HG2 91z

01423 876606
07866 592759

contactus@college.pnn.police.uk
Please mark emails for the attention of Gordon Ryan

November 2012 - Version 1.0 31

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



@ CD"E E Df Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers

P0|ICII"IQ

Glossary of Terms

AC Assistant Commissionner (Metropolitan Police
Service)

ACC Assistant Chief Constable

CC Chief Constable

College of Policing

The professional body for policing responsible for
defining the standards within policing.

DAC Deputy Assistant Commissioner (Metropolitan
Police Service)

DC Deputy Commissioner

DCC Deputy Chief Constable

DMPC Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime

DPA Data Protection Act

HMIC Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary

IPCC Independent Police Complaints Commission

Leadership Domains

Part of the Leadership Strategy for Policing, the
Police Leadership Domains identify three areas of
skills; Professional Policing Skills; Executive
Policing Skills and Business Policing Skills.

MOPAC Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime

MPS Metropolitan Police Service

PCC Police and Crime Commissioner

PCP Police and Crime Panel

PPF Personal Policing Professional Framework (PPF) is a

Qualities competency framework designed to help police
officers and staff determine competence. The
Personal Qualities within the PPF provide defined
behaviours for police officer and staff roles.

SCC Strategic Command Course

Senior PNAC The Senior Police National Assessment Centre

The Act The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act

2011

Tud 60

November 2012 - Version 1.0

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

32



©®

Tud 61

College of
P0|ICII"IQ

Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers

Useful Links

Data Protection Act 1998
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/29/contents

Equality Act 2010
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents

Home Office Circular 20/2012 - Selection and appointment of chief
officers - from 22 November 2012
http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/about-us/corporate-publications-strategy/home-
office-circulars/circulars-2012/020-2012/

Home Office Circular 21/2012 - Determinations under Police Regulations
2003 - appointment of senior officers
http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/about-us/corporate-publications-strategy/home-
office-circulars/circulars-2012/021-2012/

Home Office Circular 22/2012 - The Police (Amendment No. 4)
Regulations 2012 - Winsor Review Part 1 (part-time working, public
holidays, replacement allowance) and senior officer appointments
http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/about-us/corporate-publications-strategy/home-
office-circulars/circulars-2012/022-2012/

Police and Crime Panel Precept and Chief Constable Appointments
Regulation 2012 (HOC 22/2012)
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2271/contents/made

Police Regulations 2003
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2003/527/contents/made

Police Regulations 2003 - Regulation 11 Part 1 Annex B Determinations
(Home Office Circular 21/2012)
http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/about-us/corporate-publications-strategy/home-
office-circulars/circulars-2012/021-2012/

Section 50 Police Act 1996
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/16/contents

November 2012 - Version 1.0

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

33



SWYDDFA COMISIYNYDD HEDDLU
A THROSEDD GOGLEDD CYMRU

AGLEN 5b

OFFICE OF THE POLICE & CRIME
COMMISSIONER NORTH WALES

Cynghorydd Julie Fallon Ein Cyf / Our Ref: OAJ/sh/mj
Cadeirydd

Panel Heddlu a Throsedd

Cyngor Sir Bwrdeistref Conwy

Bodlondeb

Conwy LL32 8DU 29 Awst 2018
Annwyl Gynghorydd Fallon
Prif Gwnstabl — Gwrandawiad Cadarnhau

O dan y Ddeddf Diwygio’r Heddlu a Chyfrifoldeb Cymdeithasol 2011 mae gofyn arnaf i hysbysu’r
Panel Heddlu a Throsedd o fy apwyntiad arfaethedig o Brif Gwnstabl.

Yr wyf felly yn ysgrifennu atoch chi i’ch hysbysu fy mod yn cynnig apwyntio Mr Carl Foulkes fel
Prif Gwnstabl Heddlu Gogledd Cymru.

Yr wyf wedi gwneud y penderfyniad hwn yn dilyn proses agored, tryloyw a chadarn ac rwyf wedi
cynnwys manylion hyn yn yr adroddiad sydd wedi cael ei hatodi.

Byddwn yn gwerthfawrogi pe byddai’r Panel Heddlu a Throsedd yn ystyried fy argymhellion
mewn Cyfarfod Cadarnhau ac yn adrodd yn 6l ataf o ran os yw fy argymhellion yn cael
cymeradwyaeth y Panel.

Diolch.

Yr eiddoch yn gywir

Arfon Jones
Comisiynydd Heddlu a Throsedd

wedi’i amgau

Tud 62
Glan y Don, Bae Colwyn LL29 8AW Glany Don, Colwyn Bay LL29 8AW

Ffon / Tel: 01492 805486 Ebost / Email: OPCCfanthwales.pnn.police.uk Ffacs / Fax: 01492 805489

(e




1.2

1.3

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

3.1
3.2

Tud 63

SWYDDFA COMISIYNYDD YR HEDDLU A THROSEDDU AR GYFER GOGLEDD
CYMRU

10 Medi 2018
Penodi Prif Gwnstabl

Adroddiad Comisiynydd yr Heddlu a Throsedd

CYFLWYNIAD

I”

Pwrpas yr adroddiad hwn yw hysbysu'r Panel Heddlu a Throsedd (“y Panel”) am benodiad
arfaethedig Comisiynydd yr Heddlu a Throsedd ar gyfer swydd Prif Gwnstabl Heddlu Gogledd
Cymru.

Mae’r adroddiad yn rhoi trosolwg o’r broses benodi a wnaed gan y Comisiynydd Heddlu a
Throsedd (“y Comisiynydd”) ar gyfer Gogledd Cymru, i ddewis y Prif Gwnstabl.

Mae’r adroddiad hefyd yn rhoi manylion ynghylch y rhesymau pam bod yr ymgeisydd arfaethedig
wedi’'i ddewis i'w ystyried gan Banel yr Heddlu a Throsedd. Dylid darllen yr adroddiad hwn ar y
cyd ag adroddiad yr Aelod Annibynnol a roddwyd gyda hwn. Gweler Atodiad 4.

CEFNDIR

Ym Mai 2018, rhoddodd y Prif Gwnstabl, Mark Polin, hysbysiad ei fod am ymddiswyddo o Heddlu
Gogledd Cymru 1 Medi 2018.

18 Mehefin 2018, cyhoeddodd y Comisiynydd ei benderfyniad i recriwtio Prif Gwnstabl newydd
drwy gyhoeddi hysbyseb i agor y broses recriwtio.

Mae Deddf Diwygio’r Heddlu a Chyfrifoldeb Cymdeithasol 2011 (“y Ddeddf”) Atodlen 8, paragraff
3, yn gofyn i’r Comisiynydd hysbysu'r Panel Heddlu a Throsedd am bob penodiad arfaethedig o
ran prif gwnstabl, ac yn cynnwys yr wybodaeth ganlynol:

(1) Enw’r unigolyn mae’n bwriadu ei benodi;

(2) Y meini prawf a ddefnyddir i asesu addasrwydd yr ymgeisydd i'w benodi;

(3) Pam bod yr ymgeisydd yn bodloni'r meini prawf hynny; a’r

(4) Telerau a’r amodau a ddefnyddir wrth benodi’r ymgeisydd.

Mae Atodlen 8, paragraff 3 o’r Ddeddf yn nodi bod yn rhaid i’r Panel Heddlu a Throsedd adolygu’r
penodiad arfaethedig a gwneud adroddiad i’'r Comisiynydd ar y penodiad arfaethedig, yn cynnwys
argymhelliad i'r Comisiynydd ynghylch a ddylai'r ymgeisydd gael ei benodi ai peidio. Rhaid gwneud
hyn o fewn cyfnod o dair wythnos, gan ddechrau ar y diwrnod y mae’r Panel Heddlu a Throsedd
yn cael hysbysiad gan y Comisiynydd o’r penodiad arfaethedig.

Mae Atodlen 8, paragraff 6 o’r Ddeddf yn nodi bod yn rhaid i'r Panel gael gwrandawiad cadarnhau
cyn gwneud adroddiad ac argymhelliad i'r Comisiynydd mewn perthynas a'r penodiad arfaethedig.

Mae Atodlen 8, paragraff 7 ac 8 yn rhoi gwybodaeth am hawl y Panel i roi feto ar gynnig y
Comisiynydd i benodi.

PROSES BENODI A MEINI PRAWF

Deddfwriaeth a Chanllaw

Y ddeddfwriaeth a’r canllaw perthnasol a ddefnyddir yw:-



3.3
3.3.1

3.3.2

3.3.3

334

3.4
34.1

3.4.2

343

Tud 64

(1) Deddf Diwygio'r Heddlu a Chyfrifoldeb Cymdeithasol 2011, Atodlen 8

(2) Cylchlythyry Swyddfa Gartref 013/2018: dewis a phenodi Prif Swyddogion
(3) Rheoliadau’r Heddlu 2003

(4) Coleg Plismona — Canllaw ar benodi prif swyddogion

(5) Offerynnau Statudol - Rheoliadau Paneli'r Heddlu a Throsedd (Praeseptau a Phenodiadau'r
Prif Gwnstabl) 2012

Y Panel Penodiadau

Mae gan y Comisiynydd y dewis i benodi aelodau o’r Panel Penodiadau. Cafodd aelodau o’r panel
eu dewis er mwyn rhoi amrediad eang o bersbectif ac mae gan bob un ohonynt brofiad blaenorol
o'r prosesau dewis ar lefelau uwch.

Yr Aelodau o'r Panel oedd:-

(1) Arfon Jones, Comisiynydd yr Heddlu a Throsedd

(2) Gill Lewis, Aelod Annibynnol

(3) Nazir Afzal, Ymgynghorydd i Lywodraeth Cymru

(4) Ruth Marks, Prif Swyddog Gweithredol Cymdeithas Cyngor Gwirfoddol Cymru
(5) James lllidge, Cadeirydd y Cyd-bwyllgor Archwilio

(6) Mark Polin, Ymgynghorydd Plismona Proffesiynol

(7) Stephen Hughes, Swyddog Monitro

Cafodd y Panel Penodiadau gopi o’r Canllaw Coleg Plismona i benodi Prif Swyddogion a hefyd
Fframwaith Cymhwysedd a Gwerthoedd y Coleg Plismona. Fe wnaeth y Swyddog Monitro hefyd
drefnu bod aelodau o’r panel yn cael hyfforddiant gan Bennaeth Hyfforddiant yr Heddlu ar y
broses benodi a’r fframwaith. Rhoddodd y dogfennau a'r hyfforddiant ddealltwriaeth lawn i
aelodau o'r panel o'r broses benodi a beth oedd yn ofynnol ohonynt.

Fe wnaeth y Comisiynydd gynnwys aelodau o’r panel yn y broses gyfan, o gymeradwyo gwaith
papur, hyfforddiant gwneud rhestr fer, adborth o fforymau a chyfweliad.
Hysbyseb

Cafodd yr hysbyseb ei ddrafftio’'n defnyddio templed gan y Coleg Plismona, ac roedd yn cynnwys y
meini prawf a’r gofynion allweddol ar gyfer y rél a gwybodaeth am sut i gael ffurflen gais a phecyn
gwybodaeth. Rhoddwyd manylion llawn o’r sgiliau, profiad, gwybodaeth a chymwysterau a oedd
yn ofynnol yn y Proffil RGI, a oedd yn y pecyn gwybodaeth. Gweler Atodiad 1.

Mae Rhan Dau o Atodiad B o benderfyniadau’r Ysgrifennydd Gwladol, a wnaed o dan Reoliad 11
Rheoliadau’r Heddlu 2003, yn dweud bod yn rhaid i swyddi gwag gael eu hysbysebu ar wefan
gyhoeddus neu fath arall o gyhoeddiad sy’n delio & materion heddlu a gylchredir ledled Cymru a
Lloegr, a rhaid i'r dyddiad cau ar gyfer ceisiadau fod o leiaf tair wythnos ar 6l dyddiad cyhoeddi'r
hysbysiad.

Hysbysebwyd y swydd wag o 18 Mehefin 2018 tan 20 Gorffennaf 2018 (cyfnod o 5 wythnos) fel a
ganlyn:

(1) Gwefan Cyngor Cenedlaethol Prif Swyddogion yr Heddlu
(2) Gwefan Comisiynydd yr Heddlu a Throsedd
(3) Gwefany Coleg Plismona

(4) Gwefan Cymdeithas Comisiynydd yr Heddlu a Throsedd



3.5
3.5.1

3.5.2

3.6
3.6.1

3.6.2

3.6.3

3.6.4

3.7
3.7.1

3.8
3.8.1

3.8.2

3.83

Tud 65

(5) HMICFRS — e-bost wedi’i gylchredeg

(6) APACE — e-bost wedi’i gylchredeg

(7) Defnyddiwyd cyfryngau cymdeithasol a datganiad i'r wasg hefyd i dynnu sylw at y swydd wag
Pecyn Gwybodaeth a Ffurflen Gais

Datblygwyd vy ffurflen gais hunanasesu ar y cyd ag ymgynghorydd adnoddau dynol o Heddlu
Gogledd Cymru. Penderfynwyd y byddai’r wybodaeth a oedd yn ofynnol yn y ffurflen gais yn
dangos tystiolaeth bod gan yr ymgeiswyr y sgiliau a’r profiad i gyflawni eu rél; roedd y
gwerthoedd a'r dystiolaeth gymhwysedd i gael eu profi yn ystod asesiadau a’r broses gyfweld.
Roedd y ffurflen gais yn glir ynghylch pa wybodaeth roedd ymgeiswyr yn gorfod eu rhoi.

Roedd y pecyn gwybodaeth yn cynnwys llythyr gan gomisiynydd yr heddlu a throsedd, proffil rol,
telerau ac amodau a'r amserlen a'r broses ddewis ar gyfer penodi.

Telerau ac Amodau

Lluniwyd y telerau ac amodau’n unol a8 Rheoliadau a Phenderfyniadau’r Heddlu. Fe wnaeth yr
hysbyseb a’r telerau ac amodau nodi y byddai’r penodiad am gyfnod o hyd at 5 mlynedd yn y lle
cyntaf, sef y cyfnod mwyaf y gallai’r Comisiynydd ei gynnig. Y cyflog penodol (fel y penderfynwyd
gan yr Ysgrifennydd Gwladol) yw £139, 890. Mae gan y Comisiynydd y dewis i gynnig amrediad
cyflog o 10% (cynnydd neu ostyngiad) o’r cyflog penodol perthnasol. Fe wnaeth y Comisiynydd
hysbysebu o fewn yr amrediad £139,890 - £153,879, i'w drafod yn ystod penodiad, a bydd yn
destun y sgiliau a’r profiad. Mae yna fuddion eraill hefyd a phecyn adleoli yn y telerau ac amodau.

Cynigiwyd a chytunwyd i gael cyflog o £146,884.50, sef y cyflog penodol a chynnydd o 5%. Mae
cyflog cyfredol yr ymgeisydd fel Dirprwy Brif Gwnstabl Glannau Mersi'n cymharu gyda’r cyflog
penodol ar gyfer Prif Gwnstabl, ac er bod Mr Foulkes wedi datgan nad arian oedd y ffactor ysgogol
iddo ef wrth gyflwyno cais, teimlai fod cynnydd bach o 5% yn rhesymol.

Dywedodd yr ymgeisydd hefyd y bydd yn byw yn ardal yr heddlu, er nad yw hyn yn ofyniad y
telerau ac amodau.

Mae’r Comisiynydd hefyd wedi gofyn bod yr ymgeisydd yn cyrraedd Lefel 3 o ran sgiliau iaith
Gymraeg o fewn 12 mis o'i benodiad. Mae’r ymgeisydd eisoes wedi cymryd camau i ddysgu.

Proffil ROl

Casglwyd y proffil rél gan y Coleg Plismona yn dilyn ymgynghoriad gyda’r holl gomisiynwyr heddlu
a throsedd a Chymdeithas Comisiynwyr yr Heddlu a Throsedd. Mae’r proffil rél yn ymgorffori’'r
holl sgiliau, profiad a gwybodaeth sy’n ofynnol gan y prif gwnstabl. Gweler Atodiad 2.

Datganiadau o Gysylltiad

Roedd pum ymgeisydd posibl mewn cysylltiad & Swyddfa’r Comisiynydd Heddlu a Throsedd; roedd
pedwar wedi gofyn am becyn gwybodaeth a ffurflen gais, ac nid oedd gan y pumed vy
cymwysterau gofynnol i gael ei ystyried.

Roedd y dyddiad cau o hanner dydd ar ddydd Gwener 20 Gorffennaf wedi’i ddangos yn glir ar yr
hysbyseb, yn y ffurflen gais a’r pecyn gwybodaeth. Ar y diwrnod cau, roedd dwy ffurflen gais wedi
dod i law.

Nid yw derbyn nifer isel o geisiadau’n anarferol, gan fod y gronfa o ymgeiswyr posibl yn fach iawn.
Roedd ‘Adroddiad Canlyniadau a Dadansoddiad Arolygon Penodiadau Prif Swyddog’ diweddar y
Coleg Plismona yn dangos bod heddluoedd (a ymatebodd i’r arolwg), fel arfer yn cael nifer isel o
geisiadau.



3.9
3.9.1

3.9.2

3.10
3.10.1

3.11

3.11.1

3.11.2

3.12

3.12.1

3.12.2

3.12.3

3.124

3.125

3.12.6

Tud 66

Diwrnod Ymgyfarwyddo

Trefnwyd diwrnod ymgyfarwyddo i bob ymgeisydd a diddordeb 17 Gorffennaf, i'w gynnal ym
mhencadlys yr heddlu. Bwriad y diwrnod oedd annog ceisiadau ac i alluogi ymgeiswyr a diddordeb
i ddysgu mwy am y rol, Heddlu Gogledd Cymru a blaenoriaethau plismona’r Comisiynydd.

Roedd y diwrnod ymgyfarwyddo’n cynnwys trafodaethau ar wasanaethau brys yng Nghymru,
cydweithredu o fewn Cymru a Gogledd Orllewin Lloegr, perfformiad plismona a'r arolygon hyder,
ymhlith pynciau eraill.

Rhestr fer

Ar y dyddiad cau ar gyfer derbyn ceisiadau, roedd dau wedi dod i law. Gan fod y ddau ymgeisydd
o safon mor uchel, fe wnaeth y Comisiynydd, mewn ymgynghoriad a’r Aelod Annibynnol,
benderfynu gwahodd y ddau am asesiad a chyfweliad 1 a 2 Awst.

Ymgynghori

Fe wnaeth y Comisiynydd anfon e-bost at bob swyddog, staff a gwirfoddolwr a weithiodd i Heddlu
Gogledd Cymru i’'w holi “Pa rinweddau a fyddai’n gwneud Prif Gwnstabl da i Ogledd Cymru”.

Roeddem yn hapus iawn gyda’r ymatebion a gawsom gan y gweithlu. Cawsom hefyd sawl neges
yn diolch i ni am roi’r cyfle i'r gweithlu gyfranogi. Fe wnaeth yr wybodaeth a ddaeth i law o’r
ymgynghoriad ein helpu i baratoi ar gyfer y fforwm rhanddeiliaid a’r cyfweliad ffurfiol.

Fforymau Rhanddeiliaid

Cynhaliwyd y fforymau rhanddeiliaid i gael cyfranogiad mewnol ac allanol a chraffu ar y broses
benodiadau.

Cynhaliwyd y fforymau rhanddeiliaid 1 Awst. Roedd un fforwm i swyddogion a staff a’r ail i
unigolion o sefydliadau sydd a chysylltiad agos a'r Heddlu a swyddfa’r Comisiynydd.

Roedd y rhai a oedd yn bresennol wedi’u dewis yn bersonol gan y Comisiynydd fel pobl a oedd yn
hyderus i ddwyn pobl i gyfrif ac yn frwd dros eu maes o arbenigedd.

Cafodd y fforwm rhanddeiliaid mewnol ei gynrychioli gan staff a swyddogion o’r adrannau
canlynol:-

Swyddogion Cymorth Cymunedol yr Heddlu
Cwnstabliaeth Arbennig
Adnoddau Dynol
Pencampwr laith Gymraeg
Gweinyddu Cyfiawnder

Tim Troseddau Gwledig
Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol
Unsain

Y Ddalfa

IGroup

Uned Amrywiaeth
Ffederasiwn yr Heddlu
Gwasanaethau Troseddau

Cynrychiolwyd y fforwm rhanddeiliaid allanol gan unigolion o'r sefydliadau canlynol neu ardal
fusnes:-

Cynghorau Cymuned
ACE Project Wales
Ymgynghorwyr Cam-drin Domestig



3.12.7

3.12.8

3.12.9

3.12.10

3.12.11

3.13
3.131
3.13.2

3.14
3.141

3.14.2

4.2

Tud 67

Cyfryngau

Y Swyddfa Gwasanaeth Prawf Cenedlaethol

Cyngor Gwynedd

Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Wrecsam

Victim Support

Kaleidoscope

Cwmni Adsefydlu Cymunedol

Cafodd y digwyddiadau eu hwyluso gan Ann Griffith, Dirprwy Gomisiynydd yr Heddlu a Throsedd
(“y Dirprwy”). Cytunwyd ar gwestiynau gan bob un a oedd yn bresennol cyn y digwyddiad, a
gofynnwyd yr un cwestiynau i bob ymgeisydd.

ROl y Dirprwy oedd sicrhau nad oedd y sgwrs yn gwyro'n rhy bell o'r cwestiynau a baratowyd.
Roedd yr aelod annibynnol, Gill Lewis, yn bresennol, sydd wedi cyfeirio at y broses hon yn ei
hadroddiad. Roedd y Swyddog Monitro’n goruchwylio’r digwyddiadau.

Ar ddiwedd bob fforwm, holodd y Dirprwy y rhai a oedd yn bresennol ynghylch eu barn ar sut yr
atebodd yr ymgeisydd i'w cwestiwn e.e. a atebwyd eu cwestiwn, a oeddent yn eich denu i wrando
arnynt, a wnaeth yr ymgeisydd roi hyder i chi?

Nid oedd y digwyddiadau hyn yn cael eu sgorio, ond rhoddwyd adborth gan y Dirprwy i'r Panel
Penodiadau ar atebion a roddwyd a sut roeddent yn ymateb i'r cwestiynau heriol gan amrywiaeth
o bobl.

Roedd yr adborth gan y Fforymau Rhanddeiliaid yn gadarnhaol iawn ac roedd gan y rhai a oedd yn
bresennol hyder llawn yn yr ymgeisydd fel eu prif gwnstabl yn y dyfodol.

Cyfweliad a Chyflwyniad
Cynhaliwyd y cyfweliad ffurfiol, a gynhwysodd roi cyflwyniad, 2 Awst 2018.

Aseswyd y cyfweliad yn erbyn y gwerthoedd a’r ymddygiad gofynnol, fel y manylwyd o fewn
Fframwaith Cymhwysedd a Gwerthoedd y Coleg Plismona, gweler Atodiad 3.

Ystyriaethau

Yn dilyn proses ddewis drylwyr a chynhwysfawr, fe wnaeth y Comisiynydd a’r Panel Penodiadau
benderfynu mai Mr Carl Foulkes yw’r ymgeisydd a ffefrir, ac mai cynnig y Comisiynydd yw ei
benodi fel prif gwnstabl Heddlu Gogledd Cymru.

Mae’r meini prawf a ddefnyddir i asesu addasrwydd yr ymgeisydd ym mhob cam o’r broses
benodi, yn Adroddiad yr Aelod Annibynnol, Atodiad 4.
YR YMGEISYDD A FFEFRIR

Mae’r Comisiynydd yn ystyried bod Mr Foulkes yn bodloni’r meini prawf dewis yn seiliedig ar y sail
ganlynol:

Yr Ymgeisydd a ffefrir:-
e  Wedi perfformio i safon eithriadol ledled y broses dau ddiwrnod,
e Yn bodloni’r meini prawf i benodi i lefel Prif Gwnstabl, fel y nodir mewn cyfraith,

e Wedi cynnal proses recriwtio tryloyw a thrylwyr, agored, a oedd yn cynnwys camau craffu
annibynnol, mewnol ac allanol,

e Gyda gyrfa sylweddol a hir sefydledig o dros 25 mlynedd mewn plismona, a gyda chefndir
gweithredol a strategol yn Heddlu Glannau Mersi a Gorllewin Canolbarth Lloegr,



5.2

53

6.2

Tud 68

e Wedi dangos i'r Fforymau Rhanddeiliaid a’r Panel Penodiadau, ei allu diamheuol i arwain
Heddlu Gogledd Cymru, ond hefyd i ddarparu gwelliannau i'r gwasanaeth plismona yng
Ngogledd Cymru

GEIRDAON, FETIO A GWIRIADAU MEDDYGOL.

Mae’r Comisiynydd wedi cael dau eirda gan ddau brif gwnstabl sy’n gwasanaethu, yn cadarnhau
gallu Mr Foulkes i gynnal y r6l hon.

Mae’r ymgeisydd wedi’i fetio i lefel addas ar gyfer y swydd hon ac mae’r gwiriadau perthnasol
wedi’'u gwneud.

Mae Uned lechyd Galwedigaethol Heddlu Gogledd Cymru wedi cadarnhau bod Mr Foulkes yn
ddigon iach yn feddygol i gyflawni'r rol.
ROL PANEL YR HEDDLU A THROSEDD

Gofynnir i'r Panel Heddlu a Throsedd adolygu’r broses benodi ac argymell a ddylid cefnogi'r
Comisiynydd i benodi Mr Carl Foulkes fel Prif Gwnstabl newydd Heddlu Gogledd Cymru ai peidio.

Gofynnir ymhellach i'r Panel gyflwyno ei argymhelliad ar y penodiad yn ysgrifenedig i'r
Comisiynydd.

Atodiad 1 Hysbyseb

Atodiad 2 Proffil ROI

Atodiad 3 Fframwaith Cymhwysedd a Gwerthoedd

Atodiad 4 Adroddiad Aelod Annibynnol y Panel Dewis, Gill Lewis




Tud 69



Proffil y Swydd

Swydd Prif Gwnstabl
Yn atebol i Comisiynydd Heddlu a Throsedd

Disgrifiad Swydd Cyflawni rél y Prif Gwnstabl yn unol ag adran
10 Deddf yr Heddlu 1996

Yn gyfrifol am Cyfarwyddo a rheoli Heddlu Gogledd Cymru er
mwyn darparu gwasanaeth heddlu effeithiol ac
effeithlon ar gyfer Gogledd Cymru a chyflenwi
holl rhwymedigethau statudol a chyfreithiol
swydd y Prif Gwnstabl.

Pwrpas y Swydd:

Mae’r adran hon yn crynhoi prif swyddogaethau’r swydd

1. Mae gany Prif Gwnstabl gyfrifoldeb cyffredinol dros arwain yr Heddlu, creu
gweledigaeth a gosod cyfeiriad a diwylliant ar gyfer yr Heddlu sy’n magu
hyder y cyhoedd a’r sefydliad sy’n galluogi gwasanaeth plismona effeithiol.

2. Mae’r Prif Gwnstabl yn gyfrifol am yr holl blismona o fewn ardal yr heddlu,
yn cynnwys cyflwyno gweithredu gwasanaethau plismona a gorchymyn ac
arwain ymateb yr heddlu i drosedd a digwyddiadau dwys a difrifol.

3. Mae’r Prif Gwnstabl yn gyfrifol am ddylanwadu datblygu plismona
rhanbarthol a chenedlaethol ac o bosib yn gyfrifol am weithrediadau
cenedlaethol neu osod safonau ac yn gyfrifol am gynnig gwasanaethau
proffesiynol effeithiol ac effeithlon.

4. Fel Corfforaeth Undyn mae’r Prif Gwnstabl yn gyfrifol am gyflawni pob
rhwymedigaeth statudol a rhwymedigaeth gyfreithiol swyddfa’r Prif
Gwnstabl a chydymffurfio ag unrhyw Gynllun Llywodraeth neu Gydsynio
sy’n bodoli sy’n penderfynu trefniadau llywodraeth yr heddlu.

Prif Gyfrifoldebau:

Mae’r adran hon yn gosod manylion y prif gyfrifoldebau sydd angen ar
gyfery rol

5. Gosod a sicrhau gweithredu strategaeth sefydliadol a gweithredol yr
Heddlu, gan roi ystyriaeth i’r Cynllun Heddlu a Throsedd a Gofynion
Plismona Strategol ac unrhyw gynllunio ac amcanion ehangach, er mwyn

Tud 70



10.

1.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

Tud 71

cynnig gwasanaethau plismona effeithiol sy’n ateb gofynion plismona
cyfredol ac yn y dyfodol.

Datblygu a chynnal trefniadau a phrosesau o fewn yr heddlu a sicrhau
gwneud penderfyniadau effeithiol a gweithredu priodol ar bob lefel
yn y sefydliad.

Datblygu perthynas strategol, gynhyrchiol ar y cyd &’r Comisiynydd Heddlu
a Throsedd yn unol & gofynion y protocol plismona, gan gyflawni pob
dyletswydd statudol a chyfreithiol fel Corfforaeth Undyn.

Arwain yr Heddlu, cyflwyno arweiniad clir, gosod diwylliant sefydliadol a
hyrwyddo gwerthoedd, moesau a safonau uchel o ymddygiad proffesiynol
i alluogi gwasanaeth effeithiol a phroffesiynol.

Arwain, ysbrydoli ac ymgysylltu & thim y Prif Swyddogion; hybu diwylliant
yn y gweithle sy’n hyrwyddo lles, hwyluso datblygiad proffesiynol a rheoli
perfformiad effeithiol i greu timau grymus sy’n gallu gwireddu gweledigaeth
ac amcanion yr Heddlu.

Cyflawni cyfrifoldebau awdurdodi gwyliadwriaeth ymwthiol a chynnal
trosolwg gweithredol, gan fod yn gyfrifol am blismona ymateb effeithiol,
cydymffurfiol, er mwyn diogelu’r cyhoedd a datblygu strategaethau
gweithredol yr Heddlu ymhellach.

Arwain a gorchymyn yr ymateb plismona gweithrediadol yn achlysurol yn yr
amgylchiadau gyda’r risg a’r proffil uchaf, er mwyn diogelu’r cyhoedd a
sicrhau ymateb priodol ac effeithiol.

Bod yn gyfrifol am reolaeth ariannol yr Heddlu gan benderfynu ar gyllideb
ffwythiannol o fewn fframwaith a gytunwyd arno fel y cyhoeddwyd gan
Gomisiynydd yr Heddlu a Throsedd, i sicrhau'r defnydd o wario cyhoeddus
a gwneud y defnydd gorau o arian.

Datblygu a chynnal perthynas strategol gyda phartneriaid lleol, rhanbarthol
a chenedlaethol, gan ddylanwadu a chydweithio’n effeithiol i gyfrannu at
welliannau a newid yng nghyd-destun gweithredu a gwireddu amcanion

yr Heddlu.

Cynghori cyrff cyhoeddus fel COBR ar faterion diogelwch cyhoeddus a
diogelwch cenedlaethol er mwyn cyfrannu at wneud penderfyniadau
effeithiol sy’n diogelu’r cyhoedd rhag bygythiadau difrifol ac sy’n cynnal
y gyfraith.

Cynrychioli’r Heddlu ar lefel lleol, rhanbarthol a chenedlaethol o flaen 'y
cyhoedd, y cyfryngau a rhanddeiliaid allanol eraill i hyrwyddo amlygrwydd,
ymgysylltu &’r cyhoedd ac adeiladu hyder mewn plismona.

Arwain meddwl, polisi, ac arweiniad cenedlaethol o fewn ardal o
arbenigedd i alluogi gwelliant parhaus arferion plismona effeithiol.

Creu diwylliant o ddatblygu, newid a menter i sicrhau gwell cynhyrchiant,
gwerth am arian a gwelliant parhaus ym maes plismona yn seiliedig ar
dystiolaeth.

Chwarae rél weithredol mewn gwneud penderfyniadau cenedlaethol ar
ddatblygu'r Gwasanaeth Plismona i alluogi cydlynu gweithrediadau yn
effeithiol, diwygio a gwella ym maes plismona a rhoi gwerth am arian.



Tud 72

Ymddygiadau:

Mae’r adran hon yn amlinellu gofynion ymddygiadol y swydd

Mae disgwyl i bob rél wybod, deall
a gweithredu o fewn moeseg a
gwerthoedd Gwasanaeth yr Heddlu.

?Q Rydym yn Rydym yn

Mae gan Fframwaith Gwerthoedd a & owizcmeadn | emasinel
Chymhwysedd Plismona (FfGChP) &

chwe chymhwysedd sydd wedi eu ;
clystyru yn dri grwp. O dan bob
cymhwysedd mae tair lefel sy’n
dangos yr hyn y bydd yr
ymddygiadau yn edrych yn
ymarferol. Unionde®

Rydym yn darparu, Rydym yn
cefnogi ac ysgogi gydweithredol

Tryloywgg,

Rydym yn
derbyn
perchnogaeth

Rydym yn
dadansoddi’'n
feirniadol

Yombay

\Y
9'W”""'}'sol, sy’n 99““09

Mae’r rél hon yn gofyn am vy lefel canlynol o FfGChP:
Cadernid, trugaredd ac ymroddiad

Rydym yn emosiynol ymwybodol Lefel 3
Rydym yn cymryd perchnogaeth Lefel 3
Arweinyddiaeth gynhwysol, sy’'n galluogi & gwelegiaeth
Rydym yn gydweithredol Lefel 3
Rydym yn darparu, cefnogi ac ysgogi Lefel 3
Plismona deallus, creadigol a gwybodus

Rydym yn dadansoddi’n feirniadol Lefel 3
Rydym yn arloesi ac yn cadw meddwl agored Lefel 3

Addysg, Cymwysterau, Sgiliau a Phrofiad:

Amlinellu'r sgiliau a gofynion cymwysterau ac addysg i gyflawni’r rél

Addysg a phrofiad blaenorol:

19. Wedi bod ar reng Prif Gwnstabl Cynorthwyol/Pennaeth neu reng uwch o
fewn Heddlu yn y DU (neu wedi bod yn ddeiliad un o’r swyddi dynodedig
os penodwyd o dramor).

20. Wedi cwblhau Cwrs Canolfan Asesu Cenedlaethol Uwch Swyddogion
yr Heddlu (PNAC) a’r Cwrs Gorchymyn Strategol (SCC).

21. Hyfforddiant Awdurdodi Swyddogion.
22. Profiad eang o orfodi’r gyfraith yn weithredol.

23. Hanes blaenorol llwyddiannus o weithio ar lefel strategol, yn cynnwys
arwain swyddogion gorfodi’r gyfraith a staff ar lefel adweinyddol uwch.



24.
25.
26.

27.

28.
29.

30.

Profiad o ymgysylltu yn llwyddiannus & phartneriaethau amlasiantaethol.
Profiad o roi fframwaith rheoli perfformiad effeithiol ar waith.

Profiad o weithredu datblygiad, newid a dyfeisgarwch sefydliadol
llwyddiannus.

Profiad o fod yn gyfrifol am reoli cyllidebau sylweddol.
Gwybodaeth ddiweddaraf o blismona gweithredol/technegol.

Gwybodaeth o ffactorau cyfreithiol, gwleidyddol, economaidd,
cymdeithasol, technolegol ac amgylcheddol a dealltwriaeth o’r
goblygiadau ar gyfer cynllunio strategol.

Gwybodaeth o bolisiau lleol, rhanbarthol a chenedlaethol perthnasol,
strategaethau a mentrau a dealltwriaeth o’r goblygiadau o fewn y
cyd-destun plismona.

31

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

38.

39.

40.

Tud 73

Sgiliau o’r radd flaenaf ym maes datblygu gweledigaeth uchelgeisiol,
strategaeth a pholisi, wedi eu gosod at realiti gweithredol a thargedau/
cynlluniau ehangach.

Gallu gweithredu ar lefelau uchel o graffter masnachol, bod a sgiliau ym
maes rheoli ariannol sefydliadol sy’n cydbwyso gofynion adnoddau
sy’n gwrthdaro ac yn ysgogi gwerth am arian.

Gallu creu newid strategol sefydliadol, i gyflwyno ymatebion priodol i
dueddiadau a materion sy’n ymddangos.

Gallu craffu’'r gorwel mewnol ac allanol, gan nodi tueddiadau a phroblemau
sy’n ymddangos ac i ddefnyddio'r rhain i hysbysu cynllunio strategol.

Gallu gweithredu lefelau uchel o graffter gwleidyddol, bod a sgiliau i gael
effaith gadarn ar y tirlun gwleidyddol mewnol ac allanol yn effeithiol.

Gallu defnyddio ystod eang o dechnegau cyfathrebu effeithiol a dylanwadol
a dulliau o drafod, cydweithio a dylanwadu yn llwyddiannus ar y lefelau
uchaf ac ar draws ystod eang o randdeiliaid.

Yn ddawnus wrth adeiladu a chynnal perthynas strategol gyda rhanddeiliaid
ar y lefelau uchaf, gallu datrys problemau a datrys gwrthdrawiadau
buddiannau.

Sgiliau arwain, datblygu ac ysbrydoli pobl, ymgysylltu &’r sefydliad gyda
blaenoriaeth, gwerthoedd ac ymddygiadau strategol.

Gallu adlewyrchu a galw'r sefydliad, unigolion a’ch hun i gyfri am
berfformiad ac ymddygiad.

Gallu nodi, comisiynu a gweithredu technolegau/gwasanaethau
newydd neu well sydd wedi cael effaith drawsnewidiol ar gyflwyniad
a/neu gost gwasanaeth yr heddlu.



“u\"'h.,
”‘EG& CO”ege Of college.police.uk

- Policing

vy
7//\\\

Competency and Values

Framework for policing
Overview of framework

BetterProfessionals
forBetterPolicing

Tud 74




Competency and Values Framework for policing OFFICIAL College of Policing

© College of Policing Limited (2016)
This publication is licensed under the terms of the Non-Commercial

College Licence v1.1 except where otherwise stated. To view this licence visit
http://www.college.police.uk/Legal/Documents/Non_Commercial_College_
Licence.pdf

Where we have identified any third-party copyright information, you will need
to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned.

For enquires about this document, or to request an alternative format,
please email contactus@college.pnn.police.uk

Tud 75

OFFICIAL ii



Competency and Values Framework for policing OFFICIAL

College of Policing

Contents

Tud 76

Introduction 3
Values 5
Cluster: Resolute, compassionate and committed 7
Competency: We are emotionally aware 7
Competency: We take ownership 9
Cluster: Inclusive, enabling and visionary leadership 11
Competency: We are collaborative 11
Competency: We deliver, support and inspire 13
Cluster: Intelligent, creative and informed policing 15
Competency: We analyse critically 15
Competency: We are innovative and open-minded 17

OFFICIAL



Competency and Values Framework for policing OFFICIAL College of Policing

Introduction

The Competency and Values Framework (CVF) aims to support all policing
professionals, now and into the future. It sets out nationally recognised behaviours
and values, which will provide a consistent foundation for a range of local and
national processes. This framework will ensure that there are clear expectations

of everyone working in policing which in turn will lead to standards being raised
for the benefit and safety of the public.

\'36\(\9
©)
1N
2
ﬁ((\ We are
) &O innovative and
\ .
> open-minded
s
S
o]
L
o
+-,-\
c
(@) We analyse
(@)} .-
= critically
5o
€

We deliver, We are

support and collaborative
inspire

The framework has six competencies that are clustered into three groups.
Under each competency are three levels that show what behaviours will look
like in practice. All of the competencies are underpinned by four values that
should support everything we do as a police service.

Tud 77

OFFICIAL 3



Competency and Values Framework for policing OFFICIAL College of Policing

Tud 78

Each cluster has a heading and a description of why that area is important.
Each competency includes a description and a list of behaviours which indicate
that a person is displaying that particular competence. Each competency is split
into three levels which are intended to be used flexibly to allow for a better fit
with frontline and non-frontline policing roles rather than ranks or work levels.
The levels are designed to be cumulative, so those working at higher levels
should also demonstrate each preceding level's behaviours. The competency
levels can broadly be matched to work levels as:

B level 1-practitioner
B level 2 -supervisor/middle manager
B level 3 -senior manager/executive.

A number of national role profiles show how the competency levels align to
common roles within policing. These can be used as a basis for developing
further role profiles within each local police force.

The following sections of this document explain each value and competency
and show the behaviours for each.

OFFICIAL



Competency and Values Framework for policing OFFICIAL College of Policing
Impartiality Behaviours
This value links to the principles of fairness and B | take into account individual needs and

objectivity from the Code of Ethics.

requirements in all of my actions.

As a police service, we must show impartiality B | understand that treating everyone fairly
throughout all our dealings with colleagues, does not mean everyone is treated the same.
par‘Fners e members Qf the publ.|c, ol 'S, , B | always give people an equal opportunity to
achieved by being unprejudiced, fair and objective. "y

) . : : ) express their views.
We consider different sides of a situation and
ensure that each side is given equal consideration. B | communicate with everyone, making sure the
We do not favour one person or group over most relevant message is provided to all.
another, acknowledging that discrimination B | value everyone’s views and opinions by actively
increases feelings of unfairness and makes our listening to understand their perspective.
jobs harder to do. We must not allow personal ) o o ,
feelings, beliefs or opinions to unfairly influence L lmeke fgur and opjectlve decisions using the
our actions in any situation. best available evidence.
We assess each situation based on its own merits o engble everyone o have equal access t?
ensuring we are fair and consistent in our actions. services and information, where appropriate.
We are clear in our rationale for the decisions
or actions we take ensuring they are clear and
evidence-based.
Integrity Behaviours
This value links to the principle of integrity from the B | always actin line with the values of the police service
Code of Ethics. and the Code of Ethics for the benefit of the pubilic.
We understand and reinforce expectations of B | demonstrate courage in doing the right thing,
professional behaviour and openly recognise good even in challenging situations.
and bad performance. We maintain the highest B | enhance the reputation of my organisation
levels of professionalism, making sure that we and the wider police service through my
always uphold the values and ethical standards of actions and behaviours.
the police service. . .

Po- v B | challenge colleagues whose behaviour, attitude
We need to build and maintain confidence with the and language falls below the public’s and the
public, colleagues and partners if we are to deliver service’s expectations.

a r?]odsm gnd sﬁec’gve pOF'Ce servl|ce. Dglrzg tk(;e B | am open and responsive to challenge about my
right t ing s a .out ecoming a role model an actions and words.
upholding public trust.
B | declare any conflicts of interest at the earliest
opportunity.
B | am respectful of the authority and influence my
position gives me.
B | use resources effectively and efficiently and not

for personal benefit.

Tud 79

OFFICIAL




Competency and Values Framework for policing

OFFICIAL

College of Policing

Public Service

This value links to the principles of respect and
selflessness from the Code of Ethics.

As individuals and as part of a wider organisation,
we have a responsibility to ensure that we act in the
best interests of society as a whole. Improving the
safety and wellbeing of the public underpins all that
we do. We constantly think about how to create

the best possible outcomes for those we serve and
we take personal responsibility for delivering these.
We show resilience and determination to overcome
barriers and to provide the best outcome.

We are dedicated to work in the public interest,
engaging and listening to their needs and concerns.
We work to make sure that the public feel valued
and engaged, which helps to build confidence in the
police service. We are respectful to the needs and
concerns of different individuals and groups.

Behaviours

B | actin the interest of the public, first
and foremost.

B | am motivated by serving the public, ensuring
that | provide the best service possible at all times.

B | seek to understand the needs of others to act
in their best interests.

B | adapt to address the needs and concerns of
different communities.

B | tailor my communication to be appropriate
and respectful to my audience.

B | take into consideration how others want to
be treated when interacting with them.

B | treat people respectfully regardless of
the circumstances.

B | share credit with everyone involved in
delivering services.

Transparency

This value links to the principles of honesty and
openness from the Code of Ethics.

We are transparent in our actions, decisions and
communications with both the people we work with
and those we serve. This ensures that we are honest
and open in our interactions and decision making.
We are genuine with those we communicate with
and endeavour to create trusting relationships. We
accept feedback and are comfortable in responding
to criticism and finding ways to improve.

We build trust with our colleagues, partners and
communities by being open about what we have done
and why we have done it and by keeping our promises
so communities can rely on us when needed.

Behaviours

B | ensure that my decision-making rationale
is clear and considered so that it is easily
understood by others.

B | am clear and comprehensive when
communicating with others.

B | am open and honest about my areas for
development and | strive to improve.

B | give an accurate representation of my actions
and records.

| recognise the value of feedback and act on it.

| give constructive and accurate feedback.

B | represent the opinions of others accurately
and consistently.

| am consistent and truthful in my commmunications.

B | maintain confidentiality appropriately.

Tud 80

OFFICIAL 6




Competency and Values Framework for policing OFFICIAL College of Policing

Cluster

Resolute, compassionate and committed

How we conduct ourselves in our service and the values that underpin our
behaviour are a key part of our thought processes and relationships. Empathy
means listening to the public, colleagues and partners, responding directly and
quickly,and having a genuine interest in ourselves and others. We are always
focused on doing our best for the public and our customers.

By understanding our thoughts and the values behind our behaviour, we can
maintain a professional and resolute stance, demonstrate accountability
and stand by the police service’s established values to maintain the service’s
professional legitimacy.

Competency

We are emotionally aware

We make the effort to understand ourselves, our colleagues and all those

we serve. We genuinely engage with and listen to others, making efforts to
understand needs, perspectives and concerns. We use these insights to inform
our actions and decisions.

We are able to control our emotions in stressful situations, understanding

our own motivations and the underlying reasons for our behaviour. This is all
underpinned by our ability to anticipate and understand how other people may
feel. We look after our own wellbeing and that of others.

Adopting emotionally intelligent behaviours also means valuing diversity and
difference in approaches to work, in thinking, and in people’s backgrounds.

We are culturally sensitive and seek to understand different perspectives,
acting with sensitivity, compassion and warmth. We always try to understand
the thoughts, feelings and concerns of those we meet.

Why is it important? The way in which we conduct ourselves is just as important
as what we do. Communicating and acting politely, respectfully and with
compassion helps to drive and maintain public trust.

Empathy is particularly important, especially if we are to engage and involve some
of the most vulnerable individuals we encounter who may not be able to fully
express or articulate their thoughts or feelings.

Understanding ourselves means that we are able to improve our own resilience and
therefore cope effectively during challenging and emotionally charged situations.

Tud 81

OFFICIAL 7



Competency and Values Framework for policing OFFICIAL College of Policing

Tud 82

We are emotionally aware

Level 1

B | treat others with respect, tolerance and compassion.

B | acknowledge and respect a range of different perspectives, values and
beliefs within the remit of the law.

B | remain calm and think about how to best manage the situation when faced
with provocation.

B | understand my own emotions and | know which situations might affect my
ability to deal with stress and pressure.

B | ask for help and support when | need it.

B | understand the value that diversity offers.

B | communicate in clear and simple language so that | can be easily

understood by others.

| seek to understand the thoughts and concerns of others even when they
are unable to express themselves clearly.

Level 2
B | consider the perspectives of people from a wide range of backgrounds
before taking action.
B | adapt my style and approach according to the needs of the people | am
working with, using my own behaviour to achieve the best outcome.
B | promote a culture that values diversity and encourages challenge.
B | encourage reflective practice among others and take the time to support

others to understand reactions and behaviours.

| take responsibility for helping to ensure the emotional wellbeing of those
in my teams.

| take the responsibility to deal with any inappropriate behaviours.

Level 3

| seek to understand the longer-term reasons for organisational behaviour. This
enables me to adapt and change organisational cultures when appropriate.

| actively ensure a supportive organisational culture that recognises and
values diversity and wellbeing and challenges intolerance.

| understand internal and external politics and | am able to wield influence
effectively, tailoring my actions to achieve the impact needed.

| am able to see things from a variety of perspectives and | use this
knowledge to challenge my own thinking, values and assumptions.

| ensure that all perspectives inform decision making and communicate the
reasons behind decisions in a way that is clear and compelling.

OFFICIAL 8



Competency and Values Framework for policing OFFICIAL College of Policing

Competency

We take ownership

Tud 83

We take personal responsibility for our roles and accountabilities but we do not let
this hold us back from being effective or taking appropriate risks.

We make decisions at appropriate levels and in appropriate areas, having a
clear rationale (for example, use of decision-making models) and accepting
responsibility for our decisions. We seek feedback, learn from our mistakes and
reflect to improve and amend our future practice.

Demonstrating pride in our work is important to us. Our selflessness means that
we also seek to help solve issues or problems, which may be internal or external
to our own teams. We recognise where limitations in our own knowledge and
experience may have an impact on our decision making. We take responsibility for
ensuring that support or development is sought to minimise any risks.

Why is it important? Not all decisions need senior leader approval, meaning that,
where necessary, we can respond more swiftly to challenges while still ensuring
we provide a full rationale for our response. Because we all face different kinds of
challenges that are not always within our comfort zone, every one of us needs to
feel confident and able to take responsibility.

These behaviours mean that we are empowered, effective and able to learn from
our mistakes. Doing so allows us to own and see successes through our delivery of
results, and not just whether a particular process has been followed.

OFFICIAL 9



Competency and Values Framework for policing OFFICIAL College of Policing

Tud 84

We take ownership

Level 1
B | actively identify and respond to problems.
B | approach tasks with enthusiasm, focusing on public service excellence.
B | regularly seek feedback to understand the quality of my work and the
impact of my behaviour.
B | recognise where | can help others and willingly take on additional tasks to

support them, where appropriate.

| give feedback to others that | make sure is understandable and constructive.
[ take responsibility for my own actions, | fulfil my promises and do what | say | will.
I will admit if | have made a mistake and take action to rectify this.

| demonstrate pride in representing the police service.

| understand my own strengths and areas for development and take
responsibility for my own learning to address gaps.

Level 2

| proactively create a culture of ownership within my areas of work and
support others to display personal responsibility.

| take responsibility for making improvements to policies, processes and
procedures, actively encouraging others to contribute their ideas.

| am accountable for the decisions my team make and the activities within
our teams.

| take personal responsibility for seeing events through to a satisfactory
conclusion and for correcting any problems both promptly and openly.

| actively encourage and support learning within my teams and colleagues.

Level 3

| act as a role model, and enable the organisation to use instances when
things go wrong as an opportunity to learn rather than blame.

| foster a culture of personal responsibility, encouraging and supporting
others to make their own decisions and take ownership of their activities.

| define and enforce the standards and processes that will help this to happen.

| put in place measures that will allow others to take responsibility
effectively when | delegate decision making, and at the same time | help
them to improve their performance.

| create the circumstances (culture and process) that will enable people to
undertake development opportunities and improve their performance.

| take an organisation-wide view, acknowledging where improvements can
be made and taking responsibility for making these happen.

OFFICIAL 10



Competency and Values Framework for policing OFFICIAL College of Policing

Cluster

Inclusive, enabling and visionary leadership

We are all able to work together independently and recognise the need to act as
leaders, whether in a formal line management capacity or when engaging and
motivating colleagues and the public to get involved or have their voices heard.

Whether we are setting a vision, planning ahead to optimise resources for the
best possible outcomes or leading a cross-sector partnership, we work across
organisations and sectors to achieve excellence in public service.

Competency

We are collaborative

Tud 85

Ensuring and improving the safety and wellbeing of the public underpins all of
our work. To achieve this most effectively, we need to look beyond our traditional
boundaries to think about how to create the best possible outcomes.

We build genuine and long-lasting partnerships that focus on collective aims and
not just on our own organisation. This goes beyond just working in teams and with
colleagues we see daily. It includes building good relationships with other public
and third sector providers, reaching out to private organisations and working with
our communities and customers.

We aim to work effectively with colleagues and external partners, mutually
sharing our skills, knowledge and insights with each other to achieve the best
possible results for all and to reduce silo working. Our engagement seeks to

not only deliver joint solutions but also to share appropriate information and
negotiate new ways of providing services together. In all of our dealings with our
partners, we make sure that they feel respected and valued.

Why is it important? Demands on the police come from an increasingly diverse set
of sources and the need for services is not defined by organisational and geographical
boundaries. We must work together regardless of differing cultures, priorities and needs.

This means that we need to influence and negotiate in order to achieve outcomes
for everyone and not just focus efforts on our own immediate environment.
Working to solve problems without help from our partners ignores the strengths
that we can utilise together, but working jointly requires the ability to build
relationships and break down barriers.

Itis critical for us to build and retain our partners’ trust and confidence in us and a
key part of achieving this is through the way in which we work with others.

OFFICIAL 11



Competency and Values Framework for policing OFFICIAL College of Policing

Tud 86

We are collaborative

Level 1

B | work cooperatively with others to get things done, willingly giving help
and support to colleagues.

B | am approachable, and explain things well so that | generate a
common understanding.

B | take the time to get to know others and their perspective in order to
build rapport.

B | treat people with respect as individuals and address their specific
needs and concerns.

B | am open and transparent in my relationships with others.

B | ensure | am clear and appropriate in my communications.

Level 2

B | manage relationships and partnerships for the long term,
sharing information and building trust to find the best solutions.

B | help create joined-up solutions across organisational and geographical
boundaries, partner organisations and those the police serve.

B | understand the local partnership context, helping me to use a range
of tailored steps to build support.

B | work with our partners to decide who is best placed to take the lead
on initiatives.

B | try to anticipate our partners’ needs and take action to address these.

B | do not make assumptions. | check that our partners are getting what

they need from the police service.

| build commitment from others (including the public) to work together

to deliver agreed outcomes.

Level 3

B | am politically aware and | understand formal and informal politics at the

national level and what this means for our partners. This allows me to create

long-term links and work effectively within decision-making structures.

| remove practical barriers to collaboration to enable others to take practical
steps in building relationships outside the organisation and in other sectors

(public, not for profit, and private).

| take the lead in partnerships when appropriate and set the way in which

partner organisations from all sectors interact with the police. This allows

the police to play a major role in the delivery of services to communities.

| create an environment where partnership working flourishes and creates

tangible benefits for all.

OFFICIAL

12



Competency and Values Framework for policing OFFICIAL College of Policing

Competency

We deliver, support and inspire

Tud 87

We understand the vision for the organisation. We use our organisation’s values

in our day-to-day activities as a role model to provide inspiration and clarity to

our colleagues and stakeholders. We work to create the right climate for people to
get the job done to the best of their abilities, ensuring a culture of mutual respect
and support.

We are dedicated to working in the public’s best interests. We understand how we
have an impact on the wider organisation and those around us and we help others
to deliver their objectives effectively.

This behaviour is not restricted to those who are in formal or senior management
positions. We all have a positive contribution to make by operating at our best,
adapting how we work to take account of pressures and demands and helping
others. We are focused on helping our colleagues to improve and learn and are
active in supporting them through activities such as coaching and mentoring.

Why is it important? To deliver the most effective service, we need to be clear on
our goals and priorities, both for the police service and individually. We can all help
to support and motivate each other to ensure that we are working as effectively
as we can, enabling us and those around us to perform at our best. We should all
act as organisational role models.

OFFICIAL 13



Competency and Values Framework for policing OFFICIAL College of Policing

Tud 88

We deliver, support and inspire

Level 1

| take on challenging tasks to help to improve the service continuously and
support my colleagues.

| understand how my work contributes to the wider police service.

| understand it is part of my collective responsibility to deliver efficient
services. | take personal responsibility for making sure that | am working
effectively to deliver the best service, both individually and with others.

| am conscientious in my approach, working hard to provide the best service
and to overcome any obstacles that could prevent or hinder delivery.

| support the efficient use of resources to create the most value and to
deliver the right impact.

| keep up to date with changes in internal and external environments.

| am a role model for the behaviours | expect to see in others and | act in the
best interests of the public and the police service.

Level 2

| give clear directions and have explicit expectations, helping others to
understand how their work operates in the wider context.

| identify barriers that inhibit performance in my teams and take steps to
resolve these thereby enabling others to perform.

| lead the public and/or my colleagues, where appropriate, during incidents
or through the provision of advice and support.

| ensure the efficient use of resources to create the most value and to deliver
the right impact within my areas.

| keep track of changes in the external environment, anticipating both the
short-and long-term implications for the police service.

| motivate and inspire others to achieve their best.

Level 3

| challenge myself and others to bear in mind the police service’s vision to
provide the best possible service in every decision made.

| communicate how the overall vision links to specific plans and objectives
so that people are motivated and clearly understand our goals.

| ensure that everyone understands their role in helping the police service
to achieve this vision.

| anticipate and identify organisational barriers that stop the police service
from meeting its goals, by putting in place contingencies or removing these.
| monitor changes in the external environment, taking actions to influence
where possible to ensure positive outcomes.

| demonstrate long-term strategic thinking, going beyond personal goals
and considering how the police service operates in the broader societal
and economic environment.

| ensure that my decisions balance the needs of my own force/unit with
those of the wider police service and external partners.

| motivate and inspire others to deliver challenging goals.

OFFICIAL 14



Competency and Values Framework for policing OFFICIAL College of Policing

Intelligent, creative and informed policing

We are open to new sources of information, continuously developing our own
knowledge to help the police service to grow and change in line with new
challenges and stay at the forefront of public service.

Informed analysis and creativity are critical to what we do. They sit at the heart
of our thinking and our decisions, meaning that effective and critical problem
solving is second nature to us. Balancing our decisiveness with consideration and
evidence-based approaches, we are able to challenge our thinking and draw on
multiple diverse sources of information for new ways of thinking and working.

We analyse critically

We analyse information, data, viewpoints and combine the best available
evidence to understand the root causes of issues that arise in complex situations.

We draw on our experience, knowledge and wide sources of evidence to give us

a greater view of what is happening underneath the surface. We combine insight
and evidence-based approaches to help make decisions, accepting that we will not
have all the answers but will always try to gather facts and robust information to
be able to think tactically and strategically.

Why is it important? Critical thinking drives effective policing as we are faced
with a wide variety of complex issues on a day-to-day basis. This means that

we all need to be able to make sense of a complex environment, accept that
ambiguity is part of contemporary working life and, therefore, be able to identify
interrelationships between different factors.

If we are able to analyse the best available evidence and see what is happening
underneath the surface, we will be better able to make confident and effective
decisions and implement preventative solutions that deal with root causes.

Tud 89

OFFICIAL 15



Competency and Values Framework for policing OFFICIAL College of Policing

We analyse critically

Level 1

B | recognise the need to think critically about issues. | value the use of
analysis and testing in policing.
B | take in information quickly and accurately.

B | am able to separate information and decide whether it is irrelevant or
relevant and its importance.

B | solve problems proactively by understanding the reasons behind them,
using learning from evidence and my experiences to take action.

B | refer to procedures and precedents as necessary before making decisions.

B | weigh up the pros and cons of possible actions, thinking about potential
risks and using this thinking to inform our decisions.

B | recognise gaps and inconsistencies in information and think about the
potential implications.

B | make decisions in alignment with our mission, values and the Code of Ethics.

Level 2

B | ensure that the best available evidence from a wide range of sources is
taken into account when making decisions.

B | think about different perspectives and motivations when reviewing
information and how this may influence key points.

B | ask incisive questions to test out facts and assumptions, questioning
and challenging the information provided when necessary.

B | understand when to balance decisive action with due consideration.

B | recognise patterns, themes and connections between several and diverse
sources of information and best available evidence.

B | identify when | need to take action on the basis of limited information
and think about how to mitigate the risks in so doing.

B | challenge others to ensure that decisions are made in alignment with
our mission, values and the Code of Ethics.

Level 3

B | balance risks, costs and benefits associated with decisions, thinking about
the wider impact and how actions are seen in that context. | think through
‘what if’ scenarios.

B | use discretion wisely in making decisions, knowing when the ‘tried and
tested’ is not always the most appropriate and being willing to challenge
the status quo when beneficial.

B | seek to identify the key reasons or incidents behind issues, even in
ambiguous or unclear situations.

B | use my knowledge of the wider external environment and long-term
situations to inform effective decision making.

B | acknowledge that some decisions may represent a significant change.
| think about the best way to introduce such decisions and win support.

Tud 90

OFFICIAL 16



Competency and Values Framework for policing OFFICIAL College of Policing

We are innovative and open-minded

Tud 91

We have an inquisitive and outward-looking nature, searching for new information
to understand alternative sources of good practice and implement creative
working methods. We are commmitted to reflecting on how we go about our roles,
being flexible in our approach as required to ensure the best outcomes.

We seek to understand how well we are performing, both as individuals and
as teams, and we seek to continuously improve. To do this, we look at relevant
standards outside policing in other organisations and sectors.

Constantly changing and adapting is part of our role. We maintain an open mind
to allow us to identify opportunities and to create innovative solutions.

Why is it important? New and emerging threats mean that our required
response will not always be obvious. We will need to adopt new thinking and
assumptions, be continually inquisitive and committed to continual improvement.
The perpetual need to adapt, innovate and question our assumptions is at the
heart of being able to serve and protect the public. It includes taking innovative,
preventative action to reduce demand.

Being open-minded and reflective also allows us to tailor our approach to specific
contexts and the communities we serve.

OFFICIAL 17



Competency and Values Framework for policing OFFICIAL College of Policing

Tud 92

We are innovative and open-minded

Level 1

| demonstrate an openness to changing ideas, perceptions and ways
of working.

| share suggestions with colleagues, speaking up to help improve existing
working methods and practices.

| constantly reflect on my own way of working and periodically review
processes and procedures to make continuous improvements.

| adapt to change and am flexible as the need arises while encouraging
others to do the same.

| learn from my experiences and do not let myself be unduly influenced
by preconceptions.

Level 2

| explore a number of different sources of information and use a variety
of tools when faced with a problem and look for good practice that is not
always from policing.

| am able to spot opportunities or threats which may influence how | go
about my job in the future by using knowledge of trends, new thinking
about policing and changing demographics in the population.

| am flexible in my approach, changing my plans to make sure that | have
the best impact.

| encourage others to be creative and take appropriate risks.

| share my explorations and understanding of the wider internal and
external environment.

Level 3

I implement, test and communicate new and far-reaching ways of working that
can radically change our organisational cultures, attitudes and performance.

| provide space and encouragement to help others stand back from day-
to-day activities, in order to review their direction, approach and how they
fundamentally see their role in policing. This helps them to adopt fresh
perspectives and identify improvements.

| work to create an innovative learning culture, recognising and promoting
innovative activities.

| lead, test and implement new, complex and creative initiatives that involve
multiple stakeholders, create significant impact and drive innovation outside
of my immediate sphere.

| carry accountability for ensuring that the police service remains up to date
and at the forefront of global policing.

OFFICIAL 18



Protecting the public
Supporting the fight against crime

As the professional body for policing, the College of
Policing sets high professional standards to help forces
cut crime and protect the public. We are here to give
everyone in policing the tools, skills and knowledge
they need to succeed. We will provide practical and
common-sense approaches based on evidence of
what works.

college.police.uk

Follow us
@CollegeofPolice #betterpolicing
Tud 93

© College of Policing C48011116



Tud 94

Assessment and selection for the post of

Chief Constable for North Wales

Independent Member’s Report

August 2018



Tud 95

Contents

1. Introduction

2. Independent Member’s role
3. Independent Member remit in the appointment process
4. Appointments panel

5. Stakeholder panels

6. Panel briefing / training

7. Role profile

8. Advert

9. Assessment design

10. Assessment delivery

11. Assessment decision making

12. Conclusions

Appendices
A Independent Member role profile

B Independent Member pen picture

10

11



Tud 96

1. Introduction

Home Office Circular 20/2012 outlines that it is for the Police and Crime
Commissioner (PCC) to decide how they wish to run their appointment process for a
Chief Constable and which candidate they wish to appoint, subject to confirmation by
the Police and Crime Panel. However, they should involve an Independent Member
in the assessment, shortlisting and interviewing of candidates.

This is the Independent Member’s report relating to the appointment process for the
next Chief Constable for North Wales. The process is the responsibility of Police and
Crime Commissioner Arfon Jones.

The aim of this report is to provide an assessment of the extent to which the
appointment process in North Wales has been conducted fairly, openly and based on
merit. It also details the extent to which the panel fulfilled their responsibility to
challenge and test the candidates’ suitability against the requirements of the role.

2. Independent Member’s role

The role of the Independent Member was laid out in Home Office Circular 20/2012
and updated in Home Office Circular 13/2018. It is described more fully within the
Guidance for Chief Officer Appointments produced and maintained by the College of
Policing in consultation with a wide range of current and former stakeholder groups
within policing. Those consulted in its preparation have included Her Majesty’s
Inspectorate of Constabulary, the Association of Police and Crime Commissioners,
the National Police Chiefs Council, Association of Police Authorities/Policing and
Crime Chief Executives, Senior Police Officers Association, Police Superintendents
Association and the Home Office. It was produced under the direction of the Police
Advisory Board England and Wales Sub-group on Chief Officer Appointments.

I am an Independent Member from the list originally created by the College of
Policing in 2012 and maintained by them until 2018. In order to become a member of
this list | was required to undergo a fair, open and merit-based selection process.
This process focussed on my suitability as someone skilled in assessment and
capable of quality assuring assessment processes. | have undergone an induction to
this role from the College of Policing, for whom | also work as an External Assessor
at senior selection centres.

Further details of my role as Independent Member are set out in the role profile in
Appendix A and my background is provided in more detail in Appendix B.

3. Independent Member remit in the Chief Constable appointment process

| was invited by the Office of the North Wales Police and Crime Commissioner
(OPCC) to become involved in all stages of this appointment. Arrangements were
made sufficiently well in advance, with my appointment finalised in early June 2018,
shortlisting arranged for 24 July and selection exercises for 1 and 2 August 2018.
The application pack with the role requirements and person specification was
assembled by the OPCC and sent to me in draft for comment. It adhered closely to
the Guidance for Chief Officer Appointments. The OPCC is to be commended for
involving me from the very earliest stages in the process. Elsewhere in the country,

3



Tud 97

the Independent Member is sometimes not involved in the process until the
shortlisting stage, but in this instance staff were very open to including me from the
outset. At every stage, my independent advice was welcomed and respected. | had
telephone and email contact to arrange the practical details and to discuss any
queries as they arose. For example, the OPCC staff discussed with me the makeup
of the selection panel in order to avoid any conflicts of interest, and how to feed back
comments from the stakeholder forums without biasing the final appointment
decision. We also discussed the length of the first draft of the candidate pack and
whether it might be helpful to shorten it, so as to encourage as many candidates as
possible to pursue an application. This evidenced an open attitude, with OPCC staff
being keen to open the process to as wide a range of candidates as possible.

We discussed the fact that a relatively small pool of candidates is not uncommon at
this level. In an attempt to maximise the size of the pool and to demonstrate
openness to all who might apply, all forces in the UK were contacted and the eligible
group of officers in each force were alerted to the existence of the vacancy. The PCC
and his staff actively demonstrated from the outset that in the interests of public
accountability, they were committed to adhering to the principles of fairness,
openness and merit.

4. Appointments panel

The appointments panel role is set out in the Guidance for Chief Officer
Appointments. This outlines that the panel should be convened by the PCC before
any stage of the appointment process takes place and that consideration may be
given to involving panel members in helping to define the requirements of the role.

It states the purpose of the panel is to challenge and test if the candidates meet the
necessary requirements to perform the role and that the PCC should select a panel
capable of discharging this responsibility. The PCC should also ensure that panel
members are diverse, suitably experienced and competent in selection practices and
that they must adhere to the principles of merit, fairness and openness. All members
should be provided with a copy of this Guidance to ensure they are familiar with its
content prior to the appointment process. In addition, it is the PCC’s responsibility to
ensure that appropriate briefing/assessor training is undertaken by all panel
members. It is suggested that a panel of approximately five members is convened
but this is at the discretion of the PCC.

Arfon Jones, PCC for North Wales, actively followed this advice to the letter. Within
this appointment process the panel had been agreed at the outset as consisting of
five members:

Arfon Jones, the Police and Crime Commissioner for North Wales

James lllidge, Chair of the Joint Audit Committee for North Wales Police
Nazir Afzal, Adviser to the Welsh Government

Ruth Marks, Chief Executive Officer of Wales Council for Voluntary Action
Myself, Gill Lewis, an Independent Member and Associate of the College of
Policing

The panel included an appropriate range of stakeholders from the public, private and
third sectors. Its composition and role mirrored the importance placed on partnership
working in the locality. Also in attendance as Monitoring Officer was Stephen
Hughes, Chief Executive of the OPCC.



Tud 98

An individual with professional policing knowledge is not a compulsory component of
an appointment panel but, when a Policing Adviser is assigned, the role is defined in
the Guidance for Chief Officer Appointments. It includes providing policing advice on
the development and design of the appointment process; advising how each
candidate’s experience and skills fit policing-specific requirements during shortlisting
and selection procedures; playing an active role in assessing performances in
exercises and interviews; and supporting the PCC during decision making.

For this appointment, this role was fulfilled by Mark Polin, Chief Constable of North
Wales until 31 July 2018.

All panel members were identified to be part of the panel by the PCC. Their senior
operational experience was sufficient to allow them to challenge and test others at
executive level. All were given a briefing and access to a copy of the Guidance for
Chief Officer Appointments, ensuring they were well informed on their duties in this
appointments process.

Four of the proposed five panel members were white, one (based on observation)
was of black and minority ethnic origin. There were no declared disabilities. The
population of Wales is approximately 96% white British / white Other. In view of the
profile of the local population, it was considered that diversity needs were adequately
met on this occasion. The panel consisted of two females and three males.

There was continuity in the composition of the panel for shortlisting, presentation and
interview. Shortlisting was carried out through consultation by phone and email; all
panel members were able to contribute comments.

The role of the Chief Executive (as defined in College of Policing guidance) is to
support the PCC by ensuring the appointment procedure is properly conducted in line
with the requirements set out in legislation and meets the principles of fairness,
openness and selection on merit. In addition, the Chief Executive is required to
ensure appropriate monitoring of the procedures.

The Chief Executive team in North Wales was represented by Stephen Hughes,
Chief Executive, ably supported by Meinir Jones, Executive Officer. The team worked
consistently to maintain standards, collaborating openly and helpfully with the
Independent Member and other panel members throughout the planning and
administration of the appointment process. Staff in North Wales were noteworthy in
the extent to which they assiduously followed the College of Policing Guidance.

5. Stakeholder panels

Two advisory stakeholder panels were used in this process, on the day before the
formal selection panel. All staff were invited to send in comments about what they
looked for in their new Chief Constable. From these responses a group of 12 people
were selected to put their questions directly to the applicants. The composition of the
staff forum was chosen to include a suitable mix of officers, staff, specials,
volunteers, Union and Police Federation representatives. An external panel of
stakeholders was also selected from partner agencies, using the same approach.
This consisted of 11 individuals including representatives from local government,
Probation, the third sector (agencies concerned with early childhood intervention,
victim support, substance abuse and domestic abuse), a local mosque and a media
consultant.



Tud 99

Responses submitted in advance from both groups were refined into a common set
of questions to be put to each candidate, to ensure consistency and hence fairness.
The two stakeholder forums were coordinated by Ann Griffith, Deputy Police and
Crime Commissioner and were also attended by Stephen Hughes, Chief Executive
and by me, to monitor their delivery. Each forum lasted 50 minutes, with timing
spread equally between each of the question areas. Feedback was reported to the
selection panel the next day, but only after the panel had themselves assessed both
candidates, in order not to adversely affect their scoring or to create bias.

It was agreed in advance that the opinions of the forums would not be scored
numerically, as members participating had not been trained in this and were not
making measurable judgements linked to the competency areas. They were to be
advisory only, to ensure that all final assessments and decisions were merit based.

6. Panel briefing / training

The PCC followed College of Policing guidance in inviting all members of the
selection panel to a half day training session on 31 July, prior to the selection
exercises on 1 and 2 August. The training was delivered by Julie Brierley, Head of
Learning and Development, and Sergeant Richie Wells. The PCC made use of
comprehensive external technical expertise throughout the whole process, to ensure
it would be transparent, objective and based on merit. This pre-meeting also gave
scope for the panel to assist in refining the design of the process, enabling members,
for example, to comment on, choose and refine the order of the interview questions.
The proposed questions included an appropriate balance of hypothetical or future
based questions and those based on past experience. The optional use of
supplementary probing interview questions was also discussed, to ensure that all
competency areas would be fully tested. This illustrated a willingness to make sure
that the selection would be made on a clear evidence base, again demonstrating
openness and transparency in the process.

The panel’s training covered the rating scale to be used and the ORCE method
(observe, record, classify, evaluate), in line with College of Policing best practice.
The panel discussed in advance what the minimum acceptable scores might be to
permit an appointment, as well as agreeing the key qualities that would make a
difference, should two candidates score equally. The PCC’s approach in establishing
agreed standards and expectations in advance with all panel members was to ensure
decisions would be based on evidence and merit, avoiding bias.

| was able to clarify that consensus decision making by the panel was the preferred
approach, but in the event of inability to achieve this, the PCC would be considered
as first among equals on the panel and would make the final recommendation on the
preferred candidate, subject to ratification by the Police and Crime Panel.

The PCC had met one of the candidates previously in a professional capacity, the
other panel members had no previous knowledge of them. In order to ensure fairness
of the process, it was agreed that any previous contact with candidates would be
noted at the outset, and that judgements would be based only on the evidence
available in front of the panel, not on prior knowledge. This was to ensure impartiality,
consistency and fairness.

Briefing of the panel immediately prior to the stakeholder forums, presentation and
interview was well planned, including allowing input from myself. This helped the



Tud 100

panel equip themselves for their role in being able to challenge and test candidates
fairly.

7. Role profile

At the training session on 31 July, the panel was briefed on the role profile as
advertised. This reflected the national guidance, including primary accountabilities,
the competencies required and the terms and conditions offered. In discussion with
the PCC prior to the selection exercises, it was emphasised that the ability to reduce
demand in face of limited resources was seen as essential. The ability to work with
partners was also key, in order to address the causes of crime rather than the
symptoms. This local emphasis was clearly reflected in the design of the process,
with a substantial role given to stakeholders on both days of the assessment
process. Digital reform was considered to be a further priority.

8. Advert

The application pack had been drawn up by the Office of the PCC in line with the
national guidance. The post had been advertised between 18 June and 20 July 2018
via the websites for North Wales OPCC, the Association of Police and Crime
Commissioners, the National Police Chiefs Council, the College of Policing and Her
Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS).
In addition information on the vacancy was circulated to all forces via the Association
of Police and Crime Commissioners and the Association of Policing and Crime Chief
Executives, advising them of the vacancy and the recruitment process. In this way all
eligible applicants in the UK pool were made aware of the opportunity. Every effort
was made to be transparent about the availability of the post and to encourage all
potential applicants to consider it. The aim was to attract the strongest possible field
of applicants, demonstrating openness.

The published application pack was comprehensive, with links offering more detail.
The pack included terms of appointment and met legal requirements. There was a
clear intention to be open and transparent with candidates from the earliest stages of
the process being published.

The exercise was successful in that it attracted five initial enquiries. Two were from
Assistant Chief Constables who later decided it was not the right time for them to
pursue an application. Another enquirer was based abroad and did not meet the
national appointment criteria for a Chief Constable appointment in the UK. It is an
essential requirement nationally that all candidates for this role must have passed the
Senior Police National Assessment Centre and the Strategic Command Course.

9. Assessment design

The application form used was in line with the College of Policing guidance. It
required details of the previous three postings held by the applicant; training,
including successful completion of the Strategic Command Course; and evidence of
skills and experience within the last three years related to the role profile. In being
based on evidence of previous achievements, it was an appropriate tool to support
merit-based judgements.



Tud 101

The choice of interview questions and presentation topic was based on
demonstration of evidence against the Competency and Values Framework for
policing, with a focus on seven of the competency areas and values. The
assessment was designed to allow the shortlisting, presentation and interview
exercises to involve all panel members. A standard assessment sheet was provided,
allowing each panel member to rate each candidate on a five point scale against
each of the seven areas. This was designed to give transparent evidence of a fair
and equal process for all candidates. The panel was also provided with a list of points
that might be included in each answer, to ensure consistency of expectations.

The interview questions produced by the PCC in liaison with the Policing Adviser
were of good quality in that they were open questions, closely linked to the
Competency and Values Framework and to local priorities.

In discussing the scoring system to be used, it was agreed that the panel would not
use a simple arithmetic addition or percentage weighting of scores, noting there was
no clear evidence on which to base any weighting. It was agreed in advance that the
panel would compare the whole set of scores for each candidate and seek to come
to a consensus decision.

A Familiarisation Day prior to the two day assessment was included in the design of
the process. It was confirmed that the day was to inform candidates about the local
context and would not be used to gain additional information about them. This was
once again to ensure transparency and fairness.

10. Assessment delivery

It was agreed in advance that the panel would be willing to decide not to shortlist and
not to appoint at the final selection stage. Standards would not be allowed to fall if the
pool of candidates was not of sufficient quality.

Two applications for the post were received, both external. Being a relatively sparsely
populated area, with a small Constabulary compared to others in the UK, North
Wales senior posts fall into the lowest pay band nationally. A survey by the College
of Policing has found that typically about 25% of adverts for Chief Constable posts
attract only one applicant. It was agreed that appropriate efforts had been made to
make the process as open as possible and that the size of the response did not
cause undue concern.

Using the method outlined above at the design stage, it was agreed unanimously to
shortlist both applicants for interview, two males. There was insufficient evidence at
this stage to rule either candidate out.

The timetable for the presentation and interview allowed adequate time for each
element. The candidates had prepared a given presentation topic in advance and
were asked to deliver a fifteen minute presentation, followed by ten minutes for panel
questions. After this, 50 minutes were allowed for the structured interview. The
carefully planned timetable helped to ensure that the process would be objective, fair
to all candidates who might have applied, and clearly based on merit.

The PCC undertook to deliver the final decision to candidates and to provide
feedback to any unsuccessful applicants.



Tud 102

11. Assessment decision making

Each panel member first scored separately at the presentation and interview stages.
Scores were collated and evidence discussed where differences of opinion emerged,
in order to agree a moderated consensus score. This enabled the candidates to be
carefully assessed on merit, with reference to evidence throughout.

Overall consensus scores were recorded by the Chief Executive and by me, and
were endorsed by the PCC. Consensus was reached throughout, and there was a
unanimous recommendation regarding the preferred candidate, who achieved high
scores on all seven selected areas of the Competency and Value Framework.

The panel made a unanimous recommendation that Deputy Chief Constable Carl
Foulkes was the preferred candidate. The PCC concurred with this in making his own
decision to recommend Carl Foulkes to the Police and Crime Panel Confirmatory
Hearing for appointment as the next Chief Constable of North Wales.

12. Conclﬁsions

Through the steps outlined above, the PCC fulfilled his responsibility to ensure the
selection process was properly put in place in accordance with the responsibilities set
out in the national guidance. Well planned use of the Competency and Values
Framework throughout the process allowed clear evidence to be recorded and
evaluated in order to make objective decisions. The panel rigorously challenged and
tested the candidates against the necessary requirements for the role, giving
assurance that the recommended appointment was appropriate. There was also
carefully considered discussion between panel members before coming to
CONSENsuUSs scores.

As the Independent Member | found that the decision-making process was
demonstrably open and fair, with good efforts applied to seek the best available field
of candidates and extensive use made of external, objective expertise; it was clearly
based on merit, with decisions taken on careful analysis of evidence. The
appointment was considered to be the most significant decision that the PCC might
make, and adherence to the highest standards throughout was taken seriously.

Thanks to the scrupulous preparation done by the PCC and his staff, and to the
professional attention devoted to the process by the panel, | can confirm that the
selection of the preferred candidate to be Chief Constable of North Wales met the
principles of fairness, openness and merit.

Gill Lewis
Independent Member
August 2018



Tud 103

Appendix A: Independent Member role profile

1.

To be familiar with the Guidance for the Appointment of Chief Officers, the
appointment process procedures, and to adhere to the principles of merit,
fairness and openness throughout the appointments process.

To work collaboratively with the PCC/CC or Commissioner and other
appointments panel members to challenge and test whether the candidates
meet the necessary requirements to perform the role effectively throughout
the appointments process.

In providing independent advice during the appointments process, where
requested to do so, their responsibilities are likely to include the following:

a. To provide independent advice in the shortlisting of applicants against
the agreed appointment criteria.
b. To play an active role (where required) as part of the appointments

panel and provide independent advice in assessing shortlisted
candidates against the agreed appointment criteria (this might include
through the use of interviews, presentations, assessment exercises,
etc).

C. To provide independent advice on which candidate(s) most closely
meets the appointment criteria in line with the principles of merit,
fairness and openness.

To produce a written report on the appointment process which expressly and

explicitly addresses the appointment principles of merit, fairness and
openness, and the extent to which the panel were able to fulfill their purpose.

10



Tud 104

Appendix B: Independent Member pen picture - Gill Lewis

| have led or advised on senior Police recruitment at Chief Officer level since 2007,
firstly to meet Police Authority requirements, and since 2013 under the revised
guidance to meet PCC/Chief Constable needs. | have also worked as an
independent assessor for the College of Policing and its predecessor at the national
senior police recruitment and promotion centres, including at the Senior Police
National Assessment Centre; for Fast Track assessment centres for serving
Constables and for external graduates; and for the Direct Entry programme at
Inspector and Superintendent level.

I have led and monitored numerous appointments at the equivalent of chief executive
level in a range of other public sector arenas beyond Policing, including in Probation,
the NHS, and in the housing and education sectors.

My earlier career spanned senior management roles in local government, in housing
and social care, and in the NHS, where latterly | was Director of Service
Improvement for Suffolk Primary Care Trust. In the last 15 years | have also held a
range of public appointments as a Non-executive Director or Chair in a Police
Authority, Probation Trust, NHS Trust, housing association and various charities.
This has included at both local and national level, for example, as Chair of the
National Housing Ombudsman Board and as Chair of Norfolk and Suffolk Probation
Trust. | have had wide ranging leadership experience at Board level of managing
major change programmes, collaborative arrangements and challenging savings
plans, balancing a commitment to excellent public service with shrinking resources,
all in a climate where public confidence and political accountability are key.

For the past six years | have also served as a volunteer with a project to support
homeless and vulnerable young people.

11



	Rhaglen
	1 Pecyn Agenda
	Rhaglen
	5a Adroddiad gan yr Awdurdod Lletyol ar y weithdrefn i'w dilyn yn ystod y Gwrandawiad Cadarnhau
	APPENDIX 1
	Appendix 2 LGA Guidance on Confirmation Hearings
	Appendix 3 - Guidance from college of policing

	5b Adroddiad gan Gomisiynydd Heddlu a Throsedd Gogledd Cymru
	2018.09.10.Confirmation.Hearing.Report and Appendices
	2018.09.10.Adroddiad.Gwrandawiad.Apwyntio
	Atodiad 1
	Atodiad 2
	Atodiad 3
	Atodiad 4






